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The Carlyle Trust Limited
Registered number 0361131 Chairman’s Statement

Chairman’'s Statement

I am pleased to present the financial statements of The Carlyle Trust Limited group (the
‘Group”) and the separate entity financial statements of The Carlyle Trust Limited (the
‘Company’) for the 11-month period ended 30 September 202G.

The main trading entities are: Julian Hodge Bank Limited (the 'Bank’} and Hodge Life
Assurance Company Limited (*Hodge Life’).

We were disappointed to see our previous CEQ resign at the turn of the year but that created
the opportunity for our CFO, David Landen, to step into the role initially as interim CEO, ably
suppotrted by Matthew Burton as interim CFO.

They assumed their roles just as the biggest global challenge in a generation, COVID-19,
started to dramatically impact on everyone's lives. It is well documented just how much of
an economic shock was created across the world, with many markets effectively closing and
many businesses having to rapidly rethink their operating model.

The Group was no excepticn, with our financial position adversely affected both by the loss
of new business income, as the UK housing market was effectively shut down for several
months, as well as the increased loss provisioning on aspects of some of our loans.

Whilst this was incredibly disappointing and frustrating as we had seen encouraging growth
in our retail mortgage business prior to the crisis, we have seen our business volumes return
to those record levels in recent weeks and so there are promising signs that the recovery is
underway. However, recovery is fragile as I write this, and we have yet to see the outcome
of the Brexit trade negotiations.

The Commercial team have been focussing on managing our existing client retationships and,
whilst inevitably there will be some stresses in some of those loans, the strength of those
relationships together with the insight of the team is minimising the longer-term impact.

The operational response was excellent, with the whole business able te work from home with
immediate effect which preserved service levels and ensured the safety and security of all
colleagues. The Board was extremely impressed willi the responsc and grateful to all of the
leadership team for such a tremendous achievement,

In common with most businesses across the sector we utilised the Government’s job retention
scheme for some colleagues, particularly those in our new business sections where markets
effectively shut down, and in doing so continued to pay full salaries and packages as well as
looking to rotate colleagues to ensure that they kept a close connection with the business.

Throughout we have maintained a close eye on preserving our capital position to ensure we
remain above regulatory thresholds.

Corporate strategy
Locking to the future, our strategy remains rooted in the traditional values of the Group
established some fifty years ago by Sir Julian Hodge.

The Group will deliver its strategy through using our trusted expertise built up in the specialist
areas we understand best, showing genuine empathy with customers and partners alike, and
showing boeld flexibility to respond to the needs of people in this ever-changing world.

Qur longer-term strategy remains to optimise the allocation of capital across the business and
to increase the return both in terms of Return on Capital Employed (‘ROCE") and in absolute
terms.

These strategic priorities were reaffirmed by the Board at our June Strategy day, with a
primary goal of building a fast moving, innovative and agile business capable of responding
quickly to market initiatives as well as creating new opportunities ourselves.

This will see the Bank growing its retail mortgage business in highly specialised areas where
the changing demographic nature of the UK mortgage market is not being adequately met by
the mainstream lenders. To facilitate this growth, we will be expanding our savings capability
and product range to add further suppoert to our existing customers as well as attracting new
savers using both traditional and digital channels.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

Our commercial business will remain a critically important aspect of the Group, with the
objective of maximising the capital supporting this business area through a manageable
number of important, long term relationships, where our expertise can be fully utilised.

A key enabler will be our investment in technology, especially utilising open architecture to
meet more customer needs and to enable effective partnerships across cur product range,
This commitment was most evident throughout the COVID-19 crisis where the decision was
made to continue the investment in technology at pace so as to enable a fast recovery at the
right time.

For Hodge Life we are assessing a wide range of potential strategic options for its future.

Our business
We are a privately owned Group seeking to use finance for good, opening up possibilities in
the moments that matter for people and business.

We continue to offer a full range of later life products assisting our customers prior to, at and
post-retirement. We have been in this market since 1965. Our unrivalled experiise enables
us to develop solutions for customers based on a clear understanding of their needs.

Alongside our later life proposition, we operate in other specialist residential mortgage
markets offering portfolio and holiday buy-to-let products. In addition, through our
commercial lending business, we offer real estate finance to developers and investors.

We use our considerable experience to ensure that we have ample liquidity and capital to
safeguard our customers’ savings and to meet all regulatory requirements.

Specialist mortgages

The Group's specialist mortgage business combines our expertise in both residential and later-
life lending.

We wark closely in partnership with our trusted network of intermediaries, serving
professional landlords through our buy-to-let mortgages, and personal customers through our
[ater-life mortgages.

Our range of later-life mortgages include retirement interest-only mortgages, either with or
without a fixed-term end date. These products are available to those over 50, a growing
market that we are committed to serving.

2020 has been a year of focus on improving our service delivery, affirming our commitment
to place our customers at the heart of everything we do. We have invested in enhancing the
intermediary experience providing an online transactional portal that provides real time case
management and account support. We continue to value and respond to feedback from the
broker community, delivering a range of product updates and service enhancements
throughout the year. We work closely with them to ensure the products we offer deliver for
our customers whilst providing flexibility in a notoriously rigid market. This is essential as we
look to evolve our product offering.

We have also focussed investment in our teams, strengthening our expertise and capability
to serve and respond to the market. This continues to pay dividends in the feedback we
receive from brokers.

Commercial lending

Our core purpose is to support experienced, serially active investors and developers of real
estate assets, predominantly in residential or residential-led mixed use schermes. This means
that we impact positively on the communities into which we lend, by helping our clients deliver
much needed new homes for sale or rent, as well as regenerating areas and providing ancillary
support facilities. We are a long-term funding partner for cur clients as they grow their own
businesses.

Our financial period to 30 September has been the proverbial ‘period of two halves” with our
markets very active and loan volumes strong in Q4 2019 and Q1 2020 as political and Brexit
related uncertainties started to ease, before COVID-19 emerged to impact the UK, both
economically and socially in a very material way.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

Whilst the immediate impact of COVID-19 was an effective hiatus in our markets, as clients
and businesses took stock of the sudden and dramatic change in the environment, it has been
encouraging to see a notable resurgence in confidence and activity through the traditionally
quieter summer maonths., Our new enquiry levels have been particularly strong of late which
is indicative of investors and developers having the confidence and motivation to plan and
progress new investments and building projects, Whether this is a sustainable trend, a release
of pent up demand from earlier in the year, or a temporary reaction to the currently buoyant
housing market activity and price levels, time will tell.

Hewever, what is certain is that there remains a sizeable cohort of businesses in the UK that
have been severely affected by COVID-19 and which will take a considerable period of time
to recover from its impact. This will affect the level of business activity in general, as well as
future demand for the property space our ciients develop and provide, in particular. Allied to
this, it is plausible that widespread and sustained homeworking across the economy could
represent structural change to warking practices, rather than being a temporary phenomenon,
with consequent longer-term implications for the type, location, nature and size of business
and residential property demand.

Moere positively, our priority growth areas in development finance and residential investment
have proved attractive to cur target market and both have shown good traction since their
initial launches last year. We are growing our lending velumes and client numbers in these
areas, whilst continuing to service our clients who focus on wider commercial real estate
projects such as offices, retail, leisure or industrial.

Cur clients remain central to everything we do, and we are continuing to invest time, effort
and money in improving the efficiency of our systems, processes and people as we strive for
excellent client experience across all areas of our business.

Savings

Customer savings are, and will continue to be, the most important part of our funding base.

Throughout 2020 we have continued invesliny in our digital offering, using technology to
create better experiences for our customers. Alongside investment in the journey, we will
continue to grow our savings product offerings.

During the next twelve months we aim to expand the range of products and services that can
be arranged online, giving customers even more control over how they engage with us.

Our customers tell us they appreciate the value of human interaction. The level of this
interaction varies from human touch at every stage of the journey, through to a simple
reassurance that any queries can be answered by a person. Our team of experts support those
customers as and when required,

We continue to manage over £1bn of our customers’ savings balances, providing competitive
interest rates and an efficient personalised service. As we have grown our digital offering to
include on-line account servicing, this has attracted more new custemers and resulted in an
increased proportion of out savings halances being raised through this channel. We expect
this trend to continue.

The Group is also a participant in the Bank of England’s Term Funding Scheme ('TFS’), which
provides a cost-effective source of funding in the form of central bank reserves to support
additional lending to the real economy. The TFS balance represents 8.0% of the overall
funding from deposits with banks and customers at 30 September 2020.

Hodge Life
Hodge Life's business fecuses on the retirement market and, in particular, pension annuities
where we offer our products through financial intermediaries.

We back our annuity liabilities with a range of long-term assets, including equity release
mortgages which are a good match for these liabilities given their long-term fixed rates of
interest. The mortgages are originated by our mortgages business which means collaborative
warking is vital to our approach.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

The events of 2020 have highlighted further the needs for holistic retirement planning. Stock
market falls and fow interest rates continue to put pressure on retirees’ pension savings, and
has brought into focus their investment risk appetite. Securing a guaranteed income for life
remains a priority for many retirees, and we expect the annuity market to grow as a resuit.

The role of property during retirement is also of growing importance, We anticipate these
developments encouraging a greater use of equity release and other later life lending
solutions, alongside annuities and similar products, to provide an appropriate level of
retirement income. We are therefore very confident that our business model is well placed to
benefit from these developments, with the drivers of change having been accelerated by the
COVID pandemic.

Hodge Life reached a strategic milestone during the year by concluding a significant longevity
reinsurance transaction. Longevity risk is the risk that annuity policyholders live longer than
expected. It is a significant risk to Hodge Life which required high levels of capital to held to
mitigate it, The transaction transfers the longevity risk on £475m of annuities to a highly-
rated reinsurer, which releases capital within Hodge Life to fund future new business growth,
Financial performance

Despite 2020 being a year which was challenging as a result of the economic environment
caused by COVID-19, the Group increased its locans and advances to customers by 15.4%.

During the year the Group changed its reporting period from 31 October to 30 September as
Hodge staff had previously been operating under pressure to cemplete the financial
statements in the lead up to the December holiday season. Hence the 2020 period, below, is
comparing a 11-month period with a 12-month period:-

Financial performance £m £m
Net interest income 36.9 41.6
Net operating income 46.0 65.2
Operating profit 10.9 35.4
(Loss)/profit before tax (13.4) 12.4
Group financial ratios % %o
Net interest margin? 1.7 2.0
Cost income ratio ° 59.1 37.3
Financial soundness - Hodge Bank % %
Common Equity Tier 1 ratio 19.7 22.5
Leverage ratio 9.6 11.1
Liguidity Coverage Ratio 272.9 516.9
Financial saundness ~ Hodge Life

[Solvency Capital Ratio 183.0 165.0

| Net interest margin: net interest income as a propottion of total assets.

2 Cost income ratio; administration expenses; as a proportion of net operating income,

The Group’s performance at a net interest income level decreased during the year as the
Group continued with its planned growth in residential mortgages and reduction in commercial
lending balances. This is in line with expectation as the Group continues to change its asset
mix to improve capital efficacy.

The Group’s performance at a net operating income level was also impacted by reduced
reversionary asset sales due to the disruption caused by COVID-19 compared with the prior
year. This reduced net operating income by £8.2 million.

We had to constrain our capacity to write annuities within Hodge Life to a low level during the
year as low interest rates as a result of COVID-19 adversely impacted Solvency Capital levels.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

The Group’s perfermance at an operating profit level reduced as a result of the movements
rnoted above but also due to the planned increase in overheads due te substantial investment
in people and systems to enable us to carry out our plans to grow the business over the
coming years. We continue to make significant investrment in our business, particularly within
the digital arena, recognising that any successful financial services business must invest to
stay relevant and to meet the aspirations and expectations of its customers.

In addition, in the prior year a significant profit of £6.1 miflion was made upon the disposal
of land within one of the Group’s development subsidiaries to a real estate developer.

The operating loss was further impacted by a farge increase in commercial loan impairments,
partly as a result of COVID-19, but the Group also recognised an additional loss, on final
settlement of £3.5 million in relation to a badly performing lecan. Further progress has been
made in 2020 to resolve commercial lending exposures in default, with gross default balances
decreasing by £10.0 million.

The Group recognised a £4.1 million loss on its macro hedge accounting portfolio as part of
its transition away from LIBOR, this was offset by a £4.2 million gain on disposal of the
underlying hedged items of government bonds and debt securities.

The overall result is a loss after tax of £10.4 million, which is mainly driven by the reduction
in operating profit of £24.5 million but also due to additicnal non-cperating losses before tax
of £1.3 million, The non-operating loss is mainly due to a revised valuation methodology of
lifetime mortgages and reversions implemented in the period. The Group now uses a discount
rate that more closely reflects active market pricing within the mark to model valuation.

Our Shareholder’s funds were further depleted due to actuarial losses of £4.4m on the defined
benefit pension scheme.

Liquidity

The Group holds liquid assets to meet its financial obligations in both business-as-usual and
stressed situations. As at the year-end, the Group held £467.9m of liquid assets (31
QOctober 201G: £599.7 million) which are available to protect it from liquidity stresses.

Hodge Bank
Liquidity levels continued to be within board risk appetite and regulatory requirements
throughout the period.

This includes the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (‘LCR"), which ensures that sufficient high-quality
liquid assets are held to survive a short term severe but plausible liquidity stress. The Bank’s
LCR as at 30 September 2020 was above the regulatory minimum of 100% at
272.9% (2019: 516.9%), this was reduced as planned during the year as the Group has
utilised the proceeds received from the disposal of the equity release mortgage portfolio at
the end of the prior period.

Hodge Life

Hodge Life's liquidity risk appetite sets liquidity requirements based upon a short-term
liquidity stress as well as a long-term structural liguidity test. Tesis are run as part of Hodge
Life’s Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (*ORSA’). Liquid assets are held to maintain liquidity
to meet both short and long term liguidity tests.

Capital and Leverage

The Group holds capital to protect itself, its depositars and annuitants against unexpected
losses. The amount of capital required to be held is determined as part of the Group's capital
risk appetite which assesses the material risks to which the Group is exposed, how those risks
are managed and the level of capital to be held against them.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

Hodge Bank
The Bank’s primary measure for assessing capital adequacy is the Common Equity Tier 1 ratio

('CET1’}. This ratio assesses the amount of the highest quality of capital as a proportion of
risk weighted assets, The Bank uses standardised risk weights to calculate the risk weighted
exposure, As at 30 September 2020 the Bank’s CET1 ratio stood at 19.7% (2019: 22.5%).

Alongside the CET1 ratio we actively monitor our leverage ratio. This is a capital ratio that
excludes the risk weighting of assets. The leverage ratio at 30 September 2020 was 9.6%
(2019: 11.1%). At present, we are nct captured under the Financial Policy Committee’s
leverage ratio framework. However, the leverage ratio will become a binding requirement in
2022, albeit the Bank comfortably meets the requirements.

Hodge Life

Hodge Life's primary metric in assessing capital adequacy is the Solvency Capital Requirement
Coverage ratio, which was introduced in 2016, as part of the Solvency II package of measures.
This ratio assesses available capital resources as a proportion of capital requirements. Hodge
Life uses the Standard formula to calculate its capital requirements and as at 30 September
2020, the Solvency Capital Requirement stood at 183% (2019: 165%). The capital strain of
writing new business remains high because Hodge Life does not benefit from the Matching
Adjustment under Solvency II.

Governance and the Board

This year also saw a number of changes in the composition of the Group's varicus boards. 1
have already spoken of the changes at CEO and CFO level, but we also welcomed a number
of non-executive directors to the boards of the Bank and Hodge Life which continued the
strengthening of the governance of the Group.

Alun Bowen is due to retire later this year. The Board is extremely grateful to Alun for his
considerable contribution to the Group over many years and he will be enormously missed.

I am delighted to confirm that David Landen was appointed to the Group’s CEQ role on a
permanent basis with the full support of the Board following a very impressive performance
leading the business throughout the COVID-19 crisis and beyond.

Alongside this the Board valued the contribution made by Matthew Burton as interim CFO and
so have appointed him to the role of Deputy CEO and Retail Director to lead the very important
growth of that business area. I would also like to welcome Richard Jones to the board as
interim CFO.

Finally, the Board would like to put on record our thanks to all colleagues across the Group
who have responded so effectively, flexibly and pragmatically to the extreme changes caused
by the COVID-19 crisis.

Dorsmertoe

Jonathan Hodge
Chairman
11 December 2020
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Strategic Report

Principal activities

The Company is a holding company of a financial services group which contains a bank and
life assurance entity. The Bank is an Authorised Institution under the Financial Services and
Markets Act 2000.

Business review, future developments and key performance indicators

A review of business, future developments and key performance indicators is included in the
Chairman's statement on pages 1 to 6. The key performance indicaters are considered to be
net operating income and cperating profit.

Results and dividends
The loss for the year after taxation amounted to £10.4m (2019: profit £10.8m). No dividend
was paid during the year (2019: £3.3m).

S172 Statement by the Directors

The Companies Act 2006 requires the directors of the Group to act in the way he or she
considers, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Group for the
benefit of its stakeholders as a whole. In doing s0, s172 requires a director to have regard,
amongst other matters, to the:

e likely consequences of any decisions in the long-term;

» interests of the Group’s employees;

» need to foster the Group’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;

« impact of the Group’s operations on the community and environment;

« desirability of the Group maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct;
and

» interests of the Group’s Shareholder.

in discharging its s172 duties, the Group has regard to the factors set out above. The Board
also has regard to other factors which it considers relevant to the decisions it makes. The
Board acknowledges that nol every decision it makes will necessarily result in a positive
outcome for all of the Group's stakeholders, By considering the Group’s purpose, vision and
values together with its strategic priorities and having a process in place for decision-making,
the Board does, however, aim to make sure that its decisions are consistent.

The Board delegates authority for the day-to-day running of the business to the CEO and,
through him, to the Executive Committee to set, approve and oversee the execution of the
Group'’s strategy and related policies, The Board reviews matters relating to financial and
operational performance, business strategy, key risks, stakeholder-related matters,
compliance and legal and regulatory matters, over the course of the financial year. This is
supported through the consideration of reports and presentations provided at board meetings
and reviewing aspects of the Group’s strategy at least twice a year. A high-level summary of
the Group’s strategy can be found in the Chairman’s Statement on page 1,

The Group has a number of key stakeholder groups with whom it actively engages. Listening
to, understanding and engaging with these stakeholder groups is an important role for the
Board in setting strategy and decision-making. The Group recognises its obligations and
requirements tae be a well-cantrolled financial services business, compliant with regulation
and delivering good customer outcomes. The Regulators are consulted and kept closely
informed in relation to key decisions made by the Board, as appropriate. A summary of how
the Board engages with customers, employees, suppliers, the community and the Shareholder
is provided below.
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Strategic Report (continued)

Our Customers

As a customer-centric business the Group uses a range of methods to involve and engage
with our customers., The Board values feedback from customers to ensure the Group is
providing them with what they want and need.

The Group has an established customer forum and continues to work closely with our broker
network to ensure the products we design are needed and add value. A variety of customer
surveys are also carried out on a regular basis to gather feedback from customers as and
when they have an interaction with the Group.

2020 has been a year of progress, during which we focused on ensuring we put the customer
at the heart of everything we do. We launched the new holiday lets product, engaging with
the broker community in its development.

We continue to make significant investment in technology to improve our operational and
digital capability which is vital in delivering our promises to our customers. This ongoing
investment brings efficiency and scalability to our operations, whilst delivering great service
to our customers,

In the prior year we launched a portal for mortgage advisers which provides a seamless online
service to support our network of advisers and enables efficient processing of mortgage
applications; additional functionality has been built within the portal in 2020. In addition, in
2020 the Group has worked with a third party to build a new mortgage servicing platform
which provides the Group with the functionality to service both interest only and capital and
interest products in-house for the first time. The new mortgage servicing system is due to
go live by the end of 2020 and should assist the Group in improving the level of service it
provides to its customers.

Our Employees

We continue to invest in our people, with leadership support and mentoring across the
business. This commitment will enhance strategic leadership as well as strengthening
capability at multiple levels throughout the organisation. We have taken steps to drive
colleague engagement through reward and recognition schemes aligned with our desire to
delight our customers and we have made enhancements to our internal communication so
that all our colleagues are aware of the business’s direction. The directors recegnise the
importance of communication with employees and they make it their policy te be accessible
to them.

In March, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on new business volumes demanded swift
and immediate action to protect and secure our colleagues and their families. The
government’s job retention scheme was used to ensure that, at a time when new business
levels were seriously curtailed as a result of the pandemic, staffing levels were appropriately
managed. Staffing levels were regularly reviewed to ensure that the business was able to
cope with slowly increasing work levels and the use of the scheme was reviewed regularly to
ensure its appropriateness,

The Board tock the decision to continue to pay furloughed employees their full pay, as it was
considered vitally important to support our colleagues and their families during a difficult and
stressful time. One of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic which became clear at an early
stage was that, bearing in mind the Group’s performance and the economic outlook, it was
highly unlikely that the performance targets set by the Board would be met to enable
payments to be made under the Group’s Incentive Scheme. The Board informed employees
of the situation as early as possible in order to manage expectations.

Our people are central to the value we deliver for our customers and the key to creating a
strong experience for our customers. We remain committed to building a culture where people
thrive through rewarding tatent and performance.
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Strategic Report (continued)

The Group has an equal opportunities employment policy, and it is the Board’s policy te
employ disabled persons whenever suitable vacancies arise and to provide for such employees
the appropriate level of training and career progression within the Group.

Last year, the Board completed the important task of shaping and agreeing a reward strategy
for the Group that sets out our guiding principles and direction, for the Group’s reward
policies, practices and offerings. The Group's strategy remains to show how much we value
colleagues, to provide flexibility and oppeortunity for all, and to offer an upper quartile
package.

During the year, we introduced our new flexible benefits package for all employees. Having
conducted a survey of our colleagues, considering the type of benefits that would work for
everyone, and identified a range of benefits which would support our colleagues at the various
stages of their lives, including the ability to buy additional holidays and health plans.

In addition te the new flexible benefits package, the business adopted a new parental leave
benefits policy, which equalised the benefits for maternity and paternity leave and increased
the length of paid leave to bring the business into the top quartile of local employers.

The Board has committed to conduct a gender pay audit in 2020/21 and to publish the results.

Our Suppliers

Our suppliers play an important role in the operation of the Group’s business to enable the
delivery of an effective and efficient business model. The Group launched a new procurement
system in 2020 which improves the management of the relationship with our suppliers.

During 2020 several material contracts were presented to the Board for approval, covering
both new relationships and contract renewals. In approving these contracts, the Board
considered the strategic value of the relationships as well as looking at the customer impact,
risk exposure, legal and compliance considerations and financial implications, The Group has
a framework in place which provides a consistent and proportionate approach to the
procurement and management of suppliers to ensure that it can effectively engage manage
and terminate, where appropriate, supplier relationships.

Our Community

Throughout 2020 we have continued to make a difference te the lives of others through cur
corporate social responsibility commitment. The Group has a focus on the wider community,
supporting four charity partners during the year: Re-engage, Care & Repair Cymru, Magdgies
and Hourglass. Additionally, colleagues are able to take up to four days off work per year to
support good causes with the Group’s “Four to do Maore’ Initiative.

Our Shareholder

A Shareholder Engagement Policy has been agreed and adopted by the Board, detailing the
Shareholders’ expectations of the Group and those matters that require shareholder approval
or shareholder consultation, to support appropriate governance and oversight.

The Board prevides updates to and engages with the shareholders of the Group regularly to
obtain a clear understanding of their views and requirements.
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Strategic Report (continued)

Corporate Governance

A comprehensive corporate governance framework is vital in supporting executive
management in its execution of strategy and in driving long-term sustainable performance.
It helps ensure that the Shareholder’s investment in the Group is protected, while at the same
time recognising the interests of our wider stakeholders.

The Board’s agenda during 2020 was focused on overseeing and supporting executive
management to deliver aon the Group’s strategic objectives. It is during periods of significant
change, which the Group is currently undergeing, that leadership and good governance are
more important than ever.

The Group’s Board comprises one executive and five non-executive directors. The roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive are separate to ensure that neither can exercise unfettered
powers of decision-making on matters of material importance.

The Board has sought to ensure that directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board
meetings by:

= Distributing papers sufficiently in advance of meetings;

= Considering the adequacy of the information provided before making decisions; and

= Deferring decisions when directors have concerns about the quality of information.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s system of internal control and for
reviewing its effectiveness. The system of control is designed to manage rather than eliminate
risks which are inherent in the Group’s business and can provide only reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group’s system of internal financial control includes appropriate levels of authorisation,
segregation of duties and limits for each aspect of the business. There are established
procedures and information systems for regular budgeting and reporting of financial
information. Financial reports are presented at every board meeting detailing the results and
other performance data.

The Group changed its internal auditors, following a tender process, from PwC to Deloitte on
an outsourced basis. The primary purpose of this function is to review the effectiveness of
controls and procedures established to manage risk. An audit programme is agreed annually
in advance with the Audit Committee and the Head of Internal Audit attends each meeting to
present a summary of audit reports completed during the period and to provide any
explanations required by the Committee.

Governance framework

Nestor Advisors were engaged to undertake a review of the Board in 2019, including

governance and individual director develoepment, specifically to:

« Identify improvements to the Board structure, functioning, ability to work as a team, and
capacity to challenge;

« Develop shared views on further enhancing board effectiveness;

« Enhance comfort among board members regarding fulfiiment of their collective role;

» Bolster confidence of shareholders, regulators and stakeholders in Board governance
practices.

Foliowing the review, which had the full participation of the Board, Nestor Advisors provided

feedback on their findings, drawing attention to the strength and collegiality of the Board. In

addition, the Nestor advisors presented recommendations, including at a high-level to:

« Continue to enhance the strategic capability of the Board, without undermining collegiality;

« Strengthen the Board’s oversight capability, without cancelling its proximity to the
business, and;

* Streamline support functions.
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Strategic Report (continued)

As a result of the recommendations the CEO and the Board have initiated several changes to
further strengthen the Board and this continued in 2020 with a number of appointments and
changes.

The following is a summary of the framework for corporate governance adopted by the
Group,

The Board

The Board has ultimate responsibility for the proper stewardship of the Group in all its
undertakings. It meets regularly throughout the year to discharge its responsibilities for all
important aspects of the Group's affairs, including monitoring performance, considering major
strategic issues, approving budgets and business plans and reviewing operational
performance, The Board holds regular discussions with the Group’s shareholder to ensure a
clear understanding of their views and requirements. A shareholder’s covenant has been
agreed detailing the Shareholder’'s expectations of the Group.

The Chair is responsible for the leadership and operation of the Board, setting the agenda
and the tone of board discussions as well as having responsibility for assessing the
effectiveness of the Board and its directors.

A board control manual has been adopted and was updated during the year which describes
the high-level policy and decision-making arrangements within the Group. The manual
includes a schedule of matters reserved to the Board together with those items delegated to
directors and board and executive commitiees.

Details of the members of the Board are set out below.

Jonathan Hodge ~ Chair

Jonathan is the son of the Group’s founder, Sir Julian Hodge, and represents the family’s
interest on the Board. Jonathan joined the group in 1983, was appointed Group Managing
Director in 1985 and held that position until reverting te a non-executive role in 2011. He
continues to chair the Company and the Board of Trustees of the Hodge Foundation,

Graeme Hughes — Non-Executive Director

Graeme joined the Board in 2019, he spent the vast majority of his career with the Nationwide
Building Scciety, most recently becorming Group Distribution Director, responsible for all sales
and service activities across 720 branches and 10,000 staff. Earlier roles have seen him
leading group strategy and planning, as well as human resources and external affairs.

Alun Bowen - Non-Executive Director
Alun joined the Board in 2013, he was the Chair of the Risk and Conduct Committee until 31
July 2020.

Alun enjoyed a long career at KPMG. He became the Managing Partner of KPMG in Kazakhstan
in 2008 and before that was the firm’s Senior Partner in Wales, specialising in the banking,
insurance and retail financial services sectors, Between 2001 and 2005, he also headed
KPMG’s practice advising global companies on sustainability.

Alun is Chair of the Audit Committee of PAQ Severstal and Transport for Wales and is a Fellow
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales.

Alun has also been Chair of Business in the Community in Wales, a member of the Council of
the Prince’s Trust Cymru and the BT Wales Advisory board.

John Barbour - Non-Executive Director
John joined the Board in March 2017 and is also Chair of the Audit Committee.

John was previcusly Managing Director of Treasury at ICBC Standard Bank, the London-based
financial markets and commodities bank, owned by China-based ICBC and South African-
based Standard Bank. He has spent his entire career in treasury and financial markets-related
roles, having previously worked at Investec and Bank of New York.
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Strategic Report (continued)

Helen Molyneux - Non-Executive Director
Heien joined the Board in June 2015 and is Chair of the Remuneration Committee.

Until November 2016, Helen was the CEO of NewlLaw Legal, a business she established from
scratch, which now employs over 400 people. She is now a non-executive director of the
EUI board of the Admira! Insurance Group.

In 2011 Helen was named Welsh Woman of the Year and in 2013 the Law Society’s Business
Woman of the Year. She was a member of the Silk Commission on Devolution in Wales and
is previously chair of the Institute of Welsh Affairs.In 2016 she was awarded an honorary
doctorate by the University of South Wales in recognition of her services to the legal
profession.

David Landen - Chief Executive Officer

David was appointed Chief Executive Officer in September 2020, stepping up from CFO and
Deputy CEQ. David joined the Group in 2002 and has held a variety of finance and treasury
roles during his time with the organisation. He was appointed to the Board as CFO in 2011.
An accountancy graduate from Cardiff University, he is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.

Board Committees
The Board has established the following standing committees at a Hodge Bank and Hodge
Life level:

Audit Committee
All members of the Audit Committee are non-executive, Executive members of the Board and
other senior executives attend as required by the Chair.

The function of the Audit Committee Is to review the work of the Internal Audit function, to
consider the adequacy of internal control systems, to oversee the relationship with the
external auditors, to review the statutory accounts including the key estimates and
judgements wused in the statutory accounts and to consider compliance
issues. The Committee meets at least four times a year.

Remuneration Committee
All members of the Remuneration Committee are non-executive. Executive members of the
Board and other senior executives attend as required by the Chair.

The Ffunction of the Remuneration Committee is to consider remuneration policy and
specifically to determine the remuneration and other terms of service of executive directors
and senior managers. The executive directors decide fees payable to non-executive
directors. The Committee meets at least twice per year.

Change and Innovation Committee
All members of the Change and Innovation Committee are non-executive., Executive
members of the Board and other senior executives attend as required by the Chair.

The function of the Committee is to oversee the end to end digital delivery of the Group's
product and services. It monitors investment and management of risk associated with the
delivery of change associated with the Group’s strategic initiatives.

The Committee was set up during the year and only one meeting took place.

Risk and Conduct Committee
All members of the Risk and Conduct Committee are non-executive. Executive members of
the Board and other senior executives attend as required by the Chair.

The function of the Risk and Conduct Committee is to oversee the management of risk and
the conduct of business on behaif of the Board to ensure that significant risks are identified,
understood, assessed and managed and that good customer outcomes are achieved. It is
responsible for the second line of defence of the business, ensuring that the level of assurance
available to the Board is sufficient and appropriate. The Committee meets at least eight times
a year.

12
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Strategic Report (continued)

Nomination and Governance Committee
All members of the Nomination and Governance Committee are non-executive. Executive
members of the Board and other senior executives attend as required by the Chair.

The function of the Committee is to recommend the appointment of directors to the Board
and board committees and to ensure that the Group has an appropriate succession plan for
executive and senior management positions. It also is responsible for ensuring that the
Group’s diversity and inclusion policy is being delivered. The Committee meets at least twice
per year.

Risk appetite

On an annual basis, in the context of the Board’s review of its strategy, the Board estabiishes
a risk appetite with appropriate key risk indicators and risk limits for executive management
to operate within. The Board monitors adherence to the risk appetite on a regular basis.

Risk management

In the normal course of its business, the Group is exposed to counterparty risk, liquidity risk,
longevity and insurance risk, house price risk, interest rate risk, conduct risk, operational risk
and pension risk. As a result of recent events, the risks from the COVID-19 pandemic are
likely to impact all of our principa! risk categories in varying degrees of severity,

Counterparty risk is the risk that a counterparty will be unable or unwilling to meet a
commitment that it has entered into with the Group. Through entering the reinsurance trade
in the year and additional counterparty risk emerged. The Group manages its counterparty
risk through its Retail Credit Committee and Assets and Liabilities Committee. Regular credit
exposure reports are produced which include information on credit and property underwriting,
large exposures and asset concentrations. A reinsurance trade was successfully implemented
during the year and has significantly reduced the exposure to longevity risk, and also to
interest rate risk.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in realising assets or
otherwise raising tunds to meet commilients as they fall duc. The Group manages its
liquidity risk through its Assets and Liabilities Committee, and monitors its liquidity pesition
on a daily basis and has adopted a policy to ensure that it has adequate resources to enable
it to conduct its normal business activities without interruption. The maturity analysis of
assets and liabilities is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

The customer deposit base represents a stable source of funding due to the number and
range of depositors. Liguidity is further managed through dealings in the money markets.

Longevity and insurance risk is the risk that policyholders live for a longer period of time
than the Group expects through the pricing of its policies or the calculation of its technical
provisions. The Group manages its insurance risk through regular monitoring of mortality
experience and pricing of annuity products. A reinsurance trade was successfully implemented
during the year and has significantly reduced the exposure to longevity risk, and also to
interest rate risk.

House price risk is the risk that arises when there is an adverse mismatch between actual
house prices and those implicit in the costing of the Group’s lending into retirement products,
such that the ultimate realisation of the property would not yield the expected return to the
Group and could, in certain circumstances, result in a capitai loss. The Group mitigates house
price risk by setting and monitoring maximum loan to value at inception of the loan,
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Interest rate risk is the risk that arises when there is an imbalance between the maturity
dates of rate sensitive assets, liabilities and off-Balance Sheet items. The Group manages its
interest rate risk through its Assets and Liabilities Committee. The Group’s policy is to
maintain interest rate risk at a controlled level within limits set by the Board.

The table in note 36 shows an estimate of the interest rate sensitivity gap as at 30 September
2020. Assets and liabilities are included in the table at the earliest date at which the applicable
interest rate can change.

The Group enters into derivative transactions, normally interest rate swaps. The purpose of
such transactions is t¢ manage the interest rate and other risks arising from the Group’s
operations and other resultant positions. The Group’s interest rate risk management policy
defines the type of derivative transactions that can be undertaken. Further information is
given in note 29 to the financial statements.

In July 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) announced a transition away from LIBOR.
The Group set-up a LIBOR working group to assess the impact and manage this change and
has made progress during the year to transition away from LIBOR. This work will conclude by
the end of 2021.

Conduct risk is the risk that the Group’s behaviour results in poor outcomes for customers.
The Group is exposed to this risk by virtue of the markets in which it chooses to operate. The
Executive Risk Committee has overall responsibility for implementing and monitoring
principles, frameworks, policies and limits. The Committee is responsible for managing risk
decisions and monitoring risk levels which it reports to the Board.

Operational risk is the risk of economic loss from control failures or externa!l events, which
result in unexpected or indirect loss to the Group. The evaluation of the various risks and the
setting of policy is carried out through the Group’s Executive Risk Committee which reports
to the Risk and Conduct Committee, which ensures adherence to the Group’s risk
managerment policy and framework. The Assets and Liabilities Committee covers liquidity risk
and credit risk for treasury counterparties. Strategic risk is monitored through the Board.

Pension risk - the Group is also exposed to pension risk through its defined benefit scheme.
Further informaticn is provided in note 33.

Pandemic risk, whilst not a principal risk category we consider the risk of economic loss as
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group runs a variety of stressed scenarios as part
of its Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) and ORSA to assess how it would
respond to severe stressed scenarios that a pandemic could cause. The Group also has a
Recovery Pian which is reviewed annually by the Board and documents the plans in place and
actions to be taken to recover from a severe stress event.

Db

David Landen
Director
11 December 2020
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Directors’ Report

The directors present thelr report together with the audited financial statements for the 11-
month period ended 30 September 2020. Certain disclosures are given in the Chairman’s
Statement, Strategic Report and the financial statements and are incorperated here by cross-
reference. Specifically, these incorporate the following disclosures:

Business review and future developments - page 1
Results and dividends - page 7
Risk management policies - page 13
Financial instruments - note 36

Directors and directors’ interests
The directors who held office during the year were as follows:

Jonathan Hodge* Chairman

David Landen (CEO) (Appointed April 2020)
Stephen Pateman (Resigned March 2020)
Alun Bowen*

Adrian Piper * (Retired April 2020)

Helen Molyneux*
John Barbour*
Graeme Hughes* (Appointed May 2019)

No contract was entered into by the Group in which a director had a material interest.

* All non-executive directors excluding Jonathan Hodge are deemed to be Independent by the
Board. Jonathan Hodge is the holder of 45,724 ordinary shares in the Company. None of the
other directors held any interests in the shares of any Group companies.

Change in year end
During the year the Group changed its year end from 31 October to 30 September.

Political contributions
The Group made no political contributions during either year.

Post Balance Sheet events

On 2 November 2020, a subsidiary of the Group entered into an unconditional sale agreement
with an independent third party to dispose of land at an agreed sales price of £10,85m. The
land is held at a carrying value of £7.5m on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at 30 September
2020. Management has estimated the net proceeds after sales costs have been considered
to be close to £9.5m, which will result in a profit on disposal of approximately £2.0m.

In November 2020, the Board declared a dividend of £1 per share. The total payment of
£1,100,002 was made on 25 November 2020.

Qualifying third-party indemnity provisions: The Group has granted an indemnity to one
or more of its directors against liability in respect of proceedings brought by third parties,
subject to the conditions set out in the Companies’ Act 2006. Such qualifying party indemnity
provisions remain in force as at the date of approving the Director’s Report.

Re-appointment of auditors
A resolution for the re-appointment of EY as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.



The Carlyle Trust Limited
Registered number 0361131 Directors’ Report

Directors’ Report (continued)

Going concern

The directors have considered the appropriateness of the going concern basis of preparation

of the financial statements taking into account the Group’s current and projected

performance, including consideration of prejections incorporating the impact of the COVID-

19 pandemic or an adverse Brexit outcome on the Group’s capital and funding position. As

part of this assessment the Board considered:

e The impact on the Group’s profits from an expected reduction in income from residential
and commercial lending combined with increased credit impairment charges;

* The sufficiency of the Group’s capital base, which is expected to be sufficient to weather
even a severe COVID-19 or Brexit related downturn; and

e The adequacy of the Group’s liquidity.

The Greup’s forecasts and projections include scenario testing undertaken in accordance with
the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process, Individual Liquidity Adequacy Assessment
Process and Own Risk and Solvency Assessment, which are required by the Prudential
Regulation Authority to demonstrate appropriate levels of capital and liquidity respectively
under stressed conditions.

The directors confirm that they are satisfied that the Group will continue in business for a
period of at least 12 months from the date of signing the Annua! Report and Financial
Statements. Consequently, the going concern basis continues to be appropriate in preparing
the financial statements.

Directors” Respansibilities Statement
The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directers’ Report and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year.
Under that law they have elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations (collectively IFRSs)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the European
Union (‘adopted IFRSs”) and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 that are applicable to
companies that prepare financial statements in accordance with IFRS. The Company has
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards and
applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) including Financial Reporting
Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (FRS 101).

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are

satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent

Company and of their profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of the Group and parent

Company financial statements, the directors are required to:

« select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

« make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

+ state whether applicable IFRS or UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to
any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

= prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the Group and the Company will centinue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to
show and explain the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that its financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They have general responsibility for taking
such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial
information included on the Company's website. Legislation in the UK governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.

16
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Each of the directors who is a director at the date cof the approval of this Annual Report
confirms to the best of their knowledge:

1.

The Group and parent Company financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS
and FRS 101, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and
profit or loss of the Group and the Company.

The Strategic Report includes a fair view of the development and performance of the
business and the position of the Group together with the description of the principal risks
and uncertainties that it faces.

The Annual Report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides
the information necessary for the shareholder to assess the Group’s position and
performance, business model and strategy.

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ Report confirm
that, so far as they are each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
Group’s auditor is unaware; and each director has taken all the steps that he ought to
have taken as a director to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the Group’s auditor is aware of that information.

By order of the Board

Drnch

David Landen
Director
11 December 2020
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Independent Auditor’'s Report to the Members of The Carlyle Trust Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of The Carlyle Trust Limited (‘the parent Company”)
and its subsidiaries” (the ‘Group”) for the pericd ended 30 September 2020 which comprise
the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive
Income, the Consolidated and the parent Company’s Balance Sheet, the Consclidated and the
parent Company’s statement of changes in equity, the Consolidated statement of cash flows
and the related notes 1 to 42 (except for the sections of 42 which are marked as unaudited) ,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that
has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent Company
financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdem Accounting Standards, including FRS
101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice).

In our opinion:

« the financial statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s and of the parent
Company’s affairs as at 30 September 2020 and of the Group’s loss for the period then
ended;

« the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union;

« the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance in
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

« the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} (ISAs
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report
below. We are independent of the Group and parent Company in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the
FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for cur opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK)

require us to report to you where:

« the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparatien of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or

+ the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s or the parent Company’s
ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least
twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the Annua!l Report, other than the
financial statements and our Auditor’'s Report thereon, The directors are responsible for the
other information.
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Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in deing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other
informaticn, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

« the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial
statements; and

e the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Greup and the parent Company and its
envirocnment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements
in the Strategic Report or Directors’ Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies

Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

» adequate accounting records have not been kcpt by the parent Company, or returns
adeqguate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

» the parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records
and returns; or

« certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 16, the
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied
that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due te fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are respoensible for assessing the Group’s
and the parent Company’s ability to continue as a going cencern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting uniess the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reascnable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
Auditer’s Report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is
located on the Financial Reporting Council’'s website at
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s
report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. OQur audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

ﬁf"?"\ _‘_.’-b,. 8~_ Y::a-._,&r\j Lk?
Andy Blackmore (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor

Bristol
11 December 2020
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Consolidated Income Statement

For the 11-month period ended 30 September 2020

Interest receivable and similar income 5 60.1 70.0
Interest payabie and similar charges 6 {23.2) {28.4)
Net interest income 36.9 41.6
Fees and commissions receivable 0.7 0.6
Fees and commissions payable {0.5) {0.9)
Net fee and commission income 0.2 (0.3)
Dividend income receivable - 0.1
Earned premiums 7 228 41.6
Impact of new insurance contracts 30 (23.4) (42.4)
Investment income 8.6 17.2
Gross claims and benefits paid 30 (25.4) (26.9)
Impact of gross claims and benefits paid on the

provision for long-term business 30 25.4 26.9
Other operating income 0.9 1.3
Profit on sale of inventory 8 -

et operatinancome || o
Administrative expenses 9 {27.2)

Depreciation and amortisation 19/20 (2.2)

Impairment fosses on loans and advances to

customers 18 (5.7)
[overatinapote ||

Other fair value gains 10 2.3

Gains arising from the derecognition of financial

assets managed at amortised cost 14/15 4.1 31
Reinsurance recoveries 394.3 -
Reinsurance expense (393.7) -
Loss on disposal of loans and advances to customers - (4.6)
Movement in fong-term business provision 30 (31.3) (46.3)

(Loss}/profit before taxation

Tax on loss/(profit)

(Loss)/profit for the financiat period

21



The Carlyle Trust Limited Financial Statements
Registered number (361131

Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
For the 11-month period ended 30 September 2020

(Loss)/profit for the financial period (10.4) 10.8
Re-measurement of defined benefit pension plan 33 (4.4) (3.3)
Deferred tax thereon 24 0.8 0.6

Total other comprehensive income (3.6) (2.7}

Total comprehensive income for the period {(14.0) 8.1

The results for the 11-month peried ended 30 September 2020 relate entirely to continuing
operations. The notes on pages 30 to 94 form part of these financial statements,
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at 30 September 2020

Assets

Cash and balances held at central banks 13 147.9 321.9
Government bonds 14 77.9 55.5
Debt securities 15 124.8 134.9
Loans and advances to credit institutions 16 117.3 87.4
Loans and advances to customers 17 1,431.3 1,240.2
Intangible assets 19 7.3 5.8
Property, plant and equipment 20 6.4 1.9
Investment properties 21 179.9 179.8
Investments 22 6.4 6.8
Reinsurance asset 23 0.9 -
Deferred tax assets 24 6.8 3.7
Other assets 25 11.9 10.1

Inventory 26 7.8

Total assats I

Notes 30 September 31 Octoher
2020 201¢
£m £m

Liabilities

Deposit from banks 27 87.5 72.5
Deposits from customers 28 1,068.9 1,039.5
Derivative financial instruments 29 82.8 81.3
Provisions for long term business - liabilities arising

from insurance contracts 30 528.0 498.7
tease liabilities 31 4.5 -
Other liabilities 32 4.9 5.1
Pension scheme deficit 33 21.0 16.6
Total liabilities 1,797.6 1,713.7

Share capital and reserves

Called-up share capital

34 1.1 1.1
Other reserves 327.8 341.0
Total equity 328.9 342.1

Total equity and liabilities - 2,126.5

These financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 11 December 2020 and
were signed on its behalf by:

[N

David Landen
Director
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Company Balance Sheet

As at 30 September 2020

30 September 31 October
Notos 2020 2019
T T

Assets
Debt securities 15 - 0.1
Loans and advances to credit institutions 16 1.5 1.1
Property, plant and equipment 20 4.5 -
Investments 22 6.4 6.8
Deferred tax asset 24 0.5 0.6
QOther assets 25 0.8 0.7

Shares in group undertakings and participating
interests 86.5 86.5

39

30 September 31 Octobet
Notes 2020 2019

Liabilities

Lease liabilities 31 4.5 =
Other liabilities 32 6.4 6.8
Total liabilities 10.9 6.8

Share Capital and reserves

Called-up share capital 34 1.1 1.1
Other reserves 88.2 87.9
Total equity 89.3 89.0

Total eguity and liabilities - 1060.2

These financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 11 December 2020
and were signed on its behalf by:

Drvch

David Landen
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the 11-month period ended 30 September 2020

Called up * ined Pornsion
Giroin re 1Ggs FOSErYe

capital

2020
At beginning of year

IFRS 16 adoption impact (note 3)

Loss for the financial year

Other comprehensive income

At end of the financial period

Catled up Retaimned
share earnings |
capitat

2019

At beginning of year 1.1 347.7 2.7 (10.8) 340.7
IFRS 9 adoption impact - (0.7) (2.7) - (3.4)
Restated Balance ' '

Profit for the financial year - 11.2 - (0.4) 10.8
Dividends - (3.3) - - (3.3)

Other comprehensive income - - -

At end of year 354.5 | -
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
For the 11-month period ended 30 September 2020

Profit and loss

aUCouing

£m

2020
At beginning of period 1.1 87.9 89.0
IFRS 16 adoption impact {(note 3)

Less fer the financial year - (0.5) (0.5)

Dividends _ - -

At and of the financial period

Callod up

Commpany k » Canitod ]

2019

At beginning of year 1.1 89.5 90.6
Profit for the financial year - 1.7 1.7
Dividends - (3.3) (3.3)

At end of year
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the 11-month period ended 30 September 2020

Cash flows from operating activities (126.0) 95,1

Taxation paid (0.3) 0.2)
{outflow)/ inflow froim operating

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of government bonds 14 (124.5) (92.4)
Proceeds from sale of government bonds 14 92.1 83.0
Disposals due to restructuring exercise 14 7.6 53.4
Proceeds from sale of debt securities 15 34.5 18.8
Disposals due to restructuring exercise 15 5.4 28.1
Purchase of debt securities 15 (29.1) (34.5)
Additions to intangible assets 19 (2.8) {3.5)
Additions to property, plant and equipment 20 (0.5) (0.2)
Purchase of investments 22 (0.6) (0.5)
Proceeds from sale of investments 22 0.7 0.4

Net_ cr.a_s.h (outflow}/ inflow from investing - (17.2)
activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Payments on lease liability 31 {0.6) -
Dividends paid - (3.3)
Net (outflow) from financing activities -
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (144.1) 144.2
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 409.3 265.1

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period - 409.3

Cash held at central banks repayable on

demand 147.9 321.9
Loans and advances to credit institutions
repayable on demand (1) 16 117.3 87.4

Cash and cash equivalents at period end - 265.2 409.3

{1) Loans and advances to credit institutions includes collateral held by swap counterparties of
£86.3m (2019: £79.5m) which is pledged against the market value of derivative instruments
and comprises interest-bearing cash deposits. Collateral that has been pledged and held is not
restricted and is returned at the end of the contract.
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A Analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents

Cash held at central banks repayable on

demand 13 321.9 {174.0) 147.9

Loans and advances to credit institutions
repayable on demand

Cash held at central banks repayable on

demand 153.2 168.7 321.9
Loans and advances to credit institutions
repayable on demand 111.9 (24.5) 87.4
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B Reconciliation of operating profit to operating cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities

(Loss)/profit before tax (13.4) 12.4
Net Income Statement losses/ (gains) on

government bonds 14 2.4 (0.1)
Net Income Statement gains on debt securities 15 0.7) {1.9)
Net change in loans and advances to customers 17 (196.8) (1.8)
Impairment provision charge for [osses on loans 18 5.7 4.2
Amortisation of intangible assets 19 1.3 0.8
Depreciation of plant property and equipment 20 0.9 0.5
Net change in investment property 21 (0.1) g.9
Net Income Statement gains on investments 22 0.3 (0.1)
Net change in reinsurance asset 23 (0.9) -
Net change in other assets 25 (0.9) (6.6)
Net change in inventory 26 0.1 0.6
Net change in deposits from banks 27 15.0 -
Net change in deposits from customers 28 29.4 45.6
Net change in derivatives 29 ‘ 1.5 (27.2)
Net change in provision for long term business

liabilities 30 29.3 61.7
Finance expense on fease fiability 31 0.2 -
Net change in other liabilities 32 0.7 {3.3)
Net change in other provisions - (0.1)

Net change in pension scheme deficit

Net cash inflow from operating activities - {126.0) _
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The Carlyle Trust Limited Notes to the Financial Statements
Registered number 0361131 For the period ended 30 September 2020

Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reperting Standards and Interpretations (collectively IFRSs) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the European Union (fadopted IFRSs’) and
those parts of the Companies Act 2006 that are applicable to companies that prepare financial
statements in accordance with IFRS.

The preparation of the Group's financial statements in compliance with adopted IFRS requires
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas where significant judgements
and estimates have been made in preparing the financial statements and their effect are
disclosed in note 2.

The Company is a privately-owned company incorporated and registered in England and Wales.

The Company financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (*FRS 101").

In these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101
in respect of the following disclosures:

e A Cash Flow Statement and related nctes;

» Disclosures in respect of transactions with members of a group;

» Disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Perscnnel and related parties.

The Company proposes to continue to adopt the reduced disclosure framewocrk of FRS 101 in its
next financial statements.

The parent Company has taken advantage of Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has
not included its own Income Statement in these financial statements. The parent company loss
for the year after taxation was £0.5m (2019: profit of £1.7m) which is dealt with in the
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern

The directors have considered the appropriateness of the going concern basis of preparation of

the financial statements taking into account the Group’s current and projected performance,

including consideration of projections incorporating the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic or an

adverse Brexit outcome on the Group’s capital and funding position. As part of this assessment

the Board considered:

¢ The impact on the Group’s profits from an expected reduction in income from residential and
cemmerciat lending combined with increased credit impairment charges;

» The sufficiency of the Group’s capital base, which is expected to be sufficient to weather even
a severe COVID-19 or Brexit related downturn; and

s The adequacy of the Group’s liquidity.

The Group’s forecasts and projections include scenario testing undertaken in accordance with
the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process, Individual Liquidity Adequacy Assessment
Process and Own Risk and Solvency Assessment, which are required by the Prudential Regulation
Authority to demonstrate appropriate levels of capital and liquidity respectively under stressed
conditions.

The directors confirm that they are satisfied that the Group will continue in business for a period
of at least 12 months from the date of signing the Annual Report and Financial Statements.
Consequently, the going concern basis continues to be appropriate in preparing the financial
statements.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)

The accounting policies set cut below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently
to all periods presented in these financial statements.

Standards and interpretations effective for the Group in these financial statements:
The Group has considered a number of amendments to published International Financial
Reporting Standards and interpretations effective for the 11-month period ended 30 September
2020. Apart from IFRS 16 they are either not relevant to the Group or do not have a significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Standards and interpretations effective for the Group in future periods:

IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts’

IFRS 17, ‘Insurance Contracts’ was issued in May 2017 and is effective for the Group for the
annual period commencing 1 October 2023. The standard will be applied retrospectively, subject
to the transitional options provided for in the standard and provides a comprehensive approach
for accounting for insurance contracts including their valuation, Income Statement presentation
and disclosure. The Group has mobilised a project team to assess the financial and operational
implications of the standard and work will continue throughout 2021 to ensure technical
compliance and to develop the required system capability to implement the standard.

None of the other standards issued by the IASB but not yet effective, are expected to have a
material impact on the Group’s financial statements in future periods.

Changes in Accounting Policy

Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations
On 1 November 2019, the Group adopted the requirements of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’.

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements
and accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees and replaces IAS 17 ‘Leases’.

IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basls of whether an idenlified dssel is
controlled by a custoemer. The previous distinction of operating leases (off Balance Sheet) and
finance leases (on Balance Sheet) has been removed for lessee accounting and replaced by a
model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability are recognised for all leases by
lessees (i.e. all on balance sheet) except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets,

The standard represents a significant change in the accounting and reporting of leases, impacting
the Income Statement and Balance Sheet as well as performance measures used by the Group.

The Group has chosen to adopt the modified retrospective approach to transition. The Group has
performed an extensive review of all the Group’s leasing arrangements in light of the new
accounting standard. A right-of-use asset and lease liability has been recognised on both the
Group’s and Company’s respective Balance Sheet. Interest will be unwound based on the
amortisation schedules for the underlying leases and the right-of-use asset will be depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the remaining useful life of the assets,

Further information with regards to the impact of the transition to IFRS 16 can be found in note
3.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Measurement convention
The Group prepares its financial statements under the histerical cost convention, except for
certain financial assets and liabilities held at fair value.

Basis of consolidation
The Group consolidates the assets, liabilities and results of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are all entities controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and has the
ability to affect those returns, through its power over the entity and voting rights.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date on which control commences until the date when control ceases. Intra-group
transactions and balances and unrealised gains on transactions between intra-group companies
are eliminated in the consolidated accounts.

The Company’s investment in its subsidiaries are recognised on the Balance Sheet at cost, less
were appropriate, provision for impairment.

Interest receivable and interest payable

Interest income and expense are recognised in the Income Statement for all instruments
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The Group estimates future
cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument. The calculation includes
all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. The net incremental
transactional income/costs are amortised over the period to the contractual maturity date for
commercial loans and to the end of the minimum term for residential and buy-to-let portfolicos.
An allowance is made for prepayments for the residential portfolics, but ne adjustment is made
for the commercial and portfolio buy-to-let portfolios.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before
adjusting for any loss allowance, For credit-impaired financial assets i.e. Stage 3, a credit-
adjusted effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash flows including loss
allowance. The Group does not currently hold any purchased or originated credit-impaired
financial assets.

If the status of the asset subsequently recovers, the amount by which the provision has
increased due to suspended interest is recognised as a reversal of impairment loss allowance
rather than interest income. The reversal of impairment loss allowance will not be recognised
until the reversal of the impairment is fulfilled.

Revenue Recognition

Investment income

Investrment income consists of realised gains on financial assets and liabilities held at fair value
through profit and loss (FVTPL).

Realised gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities held at fair value represent the
difference between the proceeds received, net of transaction costs, and the original cost.

Fees and commissions

Fee and commission income primarily relate to fees for originating martgages on behalf of third-
parties. Fee income is recognised when performance obligations attached to the fee or
commission have been satisfied.

Premium income

Premiums received in respect of pension annuity insurance contracts are recognised as revenue
when they become payable by the policyholder when the policy commences and are shown
before deduction of commission. All premiurn revenue is in respect of single premium insurance
business.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)

Insurance contracts

The Group offers insurance products in the form of annuities and also has one reinsurance
contract. Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance
contract for the remainder of its lifetime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly over
time. As the Group’s products are singie premium contracts, acquisition expenses are expensed
to the Income Statement as incurred.

Profit on sale of inventory
Profit on sale of inventory relates to the sale of iand for development. The profit on sale is equat
to the revenue generated of the sale less the costs related to the sale.

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. All such revenue is reported net of discounts,
and value added and other sales taxes.

Cost of sale comprises land, direct materials and direct labcur costs that have been incurred in
bringing the inventories to their location and cendition prior to sale.

Financial Instruments

Recognition

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Purchases and sales of financial assets are recegnised on the date
in which they are settled.

Financial assets
The Group has classified its financial assets as follows:

« Amortised cost: Cash and balances held with central bank, Residential, Portfolio Buy-to-iet
and Commercial, Loans and advances to credit institutions, Government bonds, Debt
securities and Other assets. These assets are held within a business model whose cbjective
is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the loans are
solely payments of principal and interest cn the principal amount outstanding.

« FVTPL: Lifetime mortgages including Retirement and Equity release mortgages, Reinsurance
asset and Government bonds/Debt securities recognised at fair value to prevent an
accounting mismatch. Lifetime mortgages are classified as FVTPL due to the existence of an
embedded derivative in the form of a ‘No negative equity guarantee’ (NNEG) which forms
part of the terms and conditions apglicable to these products.

To classify financial assets the Group performs two assessments to evaluate the business model
in which financial assets are managed and their cash flow characteristics.

The 'business madel assessment’ is performed at a portfolio level and determines whether the
Group’s objective is to generate cash flows from collecting contractual cash flows, or by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets.

The assessment of cash flow characteristics determines whether the contractual cash flows of
the financial asset are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding (SPPI). The SPPI test is performed at an instrument level based on the contractual
terms of the instrument at initial recognition. For the purposes of the SPPI test, principa!l is
defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. Interest is defined as
consideration for the time value of money and credit risk associated with the principal amount
outstanding and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative
costs), as well as a reasonable profit margin.

A financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following

conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

o It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and

s Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.

On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset as FVTPL if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise,
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1 Accounting policies (continued)

Financial liabilities
The Group has classified its financial liabilities as follows:

o Amortised cost: Deposits from customers and Other liabilities.
¢ FVTPL: Derivatives

De-recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

(i) Financial assets

A financial asset is de-recognised when:

e The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired,

« The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a pass-through arrangement; and either:

e The Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or

e« The Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset but has transferred control of the asset.

Where an existing financial asset is replaced by another to the same customer on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing facility are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original asset and recognition of a new asset.

(1i) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or has expired.

Fair value of financial instruments

On initial recognition, the best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument is normally

transaction price {i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received). If the Group

determines that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price, the Group
accounts for such differences as follows:

e If fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability
or based on a valuation technigue that uses only data from observable markets, then the
difference is recognised in the Income Statement on initial recognition (i.e. day 1 profit or
loss);

« In all other cases, the fair value will be adjusted to bring it in line with the transaction price
{(i.e. day 1 profit or loss will be deferred by including it in the initial carrying amount of the
asset or llability). Subsequently, the deferred gain or loss will be released to the Income
Statement on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the
valuation is wholly supported by cbservable market data or the transaction is clesed out.

The Group uses a fair value hierarchy that categorises financial instruments inte three different
levels as detailed in note 36. Levels are reviewed at each reporting date and this determines
whether transfers between levels are required.

Equity release and retirement mortgages

On initial recognition, the fair value of equity release and retirement mortgages is calculated hy
discounting the future expected cash flows at swap rates together with an allowance for
illiquidity. The illiquidity spread is informed by examining the pricing of new originations amongst
other market participants, creating a market consistent discount rate for the asset.

For equity release mortgages, if the difference between the fair value at transaction date and
the transaction price is a gain, it is not recognised but deferred. This difference will be a short-
lived effect and is deferred over one year and recognised uniformly over this period into the
Income Statement. If the difference between the fair value and the transaction price is a loss
upon initial recogniticn, it is expensed to the Income Statement.

On subsequent measurement, the value of lifetime mortgages is calculated by projecting the
cash flows expected to be generated by the portfolic on redemption, allowing for credit losses
caused by the no-negative equity guarantee using a variant of the Black Scholes option pricing
method. These cash flows are then discounted at the swap vield pius a margin to reflect the
illiquidity of lifetime mortgage assets, as described above. An allowance for possible early
redemption of the lifetime mortgages has been determined by reference to historic rates of lapse
within the portfolio.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)

Embedded derivatives

The NNEG is an embedded derivative. The Group does not separate the NNEG embedded
derivative from the host instrument. The fair value of lifetime mortgages takes into account an
explicit provision in respect of the NNEG which is calculated using a variant of the Black Scholes
option pricing model. Further details are disclosed in note 36(d).

Measurement of Expected Credit Loss {ECL)
Impairment of financial assets is calculated using a forward looking ECL model. The Group
records an allowance for ECLs (‘loss allowance’) for all financial assets not held at FVTPL.

Measurement of ECLs depends on the ‘stage’ of the financial asset, based on changes in credit

risk occurring since initial recognition, as described below:

» Stage 1: when a financial asset is first recognised it is assigned to Stage 1 and a 12-month
ECL is recognised. If there is no significant increase in credit risk from initial recognition the
financial asset remains in Stage 1,

» Stage 2: if there is a significant increase in credit risk from initial recognition a financial asset
it is moved to Stage 2 and a lifetime ECL is recognised.

« Stage 3: when there is objective evidence of impairment and the financial asset is considered
to be in default, it is moved to Stage 3 and a lifetime ECL is recognised.

A 12-month ECL is defined as the portion of lifetime ECL that will result if a default occurs in the
12-months after the reporting date, weighted by the probability of that default occurring.

A lifetime ECL is defined as ECLs that result frem all possible default events over the expected
behavioural life of a financial instrument.

For lean commitments, where the lpan commitment relates to the undrawn component of a
facility, it is assigned to the same stage as the drawn component of the facility. For pipeline
loans, the loan commitment is assigned to Stage 1.

If the contractual cash flows on a financial asset have been renegotiated or modified and the
financial asset was not derecognised, an assessment is made to consider whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk of the financial instrument.

Significant increase in credit risk

The Group applies a series of quantitative, qualitative and backstop criteria to determine if there

has been a significant increase in credit risk:

¢ Quantitative criteria: this is based on a doubling of the probability of default plus 45bps since
origination for the commercial and portfolio buy-to-Let exposures and a deterioration in a
customer’s credit score of greater than or equal to 160 points for residential mortgages.

« Qualitative criteria: this includes the observation of specific events such as short-term
forbearance, payment cancellation, historical arrears or extension to customer terms.

e Backstop criteria: IFRS 9 includes a backstop that 30-days past due is an indicator of a
significant increase in credit risk. The Group considers 30-days past due to be an appropriate
backstop measure and does not rebut this presumption. The granting of a short-term
payment holiday of up to 60-days during the Covid-19 outbreak does not by itself represent
a significant increase in credit risk.

Definition of default and credit-impaired assets

The Group’s definition of default is fully aligned with the definition of credit-impaired. The Group

applies both a qualitative and quantitative criterion to determine if an account meets the

definition of default. These criteria include:

+ When the borrower is more than 90-days past due; and

+« Qualitative factors to comply with the internal rating systems risk grading approach adopted
by the Group.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance

may vary over time to reflect changes in circumstances.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)

Presentation of loss allowances in the Balance Sheet
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are presented as a deduction
from the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Write-offs
Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic
prospect of recovery.

Hedge accounting

The Group has elected to continue to apply the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39. All
derivatives entered into by the Group are for the purposes of providing an economic hedge,
Where the criteria set cut in JIAS 39 are met, the Group uses hedge accounting and desighates
the hedging derivative as hedging fair value risks.

At inception of the hedge relationship, the Group formally documents the relationship between
the hedged item and the hedging instrument, including the nature of the risk, the risk
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge and the method that will be used
to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship at inception and on an ongoing basis.

At each hedge effectiveness assessment date, a hedge relationship must be expected to be highly
effective on a prospective basis and demonstrate that it was effective (retrospective
effectiveness) for the designated period in order to qualify for hedge accounting. A formal
assessment is undertaken by comparing the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the
changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk in the hedged item, both at
inception and at each quarter end on an ongoing basis. A hedge is expected to be highly effective
if the changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk during the period for
which the hedge is designated were offset by the hedging instrument in a range of 80% to 125%
and were expected to achieve such offset in future periods.

Hedge ineffectiveness is recognised in the Income Statement in other fair value gains and losses.
For situations where the hedged item is a forecast transaction, the Group also assesses whether
the transaction is highly probable and presents an exposure to variations in cash flows that could
ultimately affect the Income Statement.

Derivatives are introduced into the portfolio at inception and therefore this prevents a large gain
or loss on the hedged item as the derivative is introduced into the macro fair value hedge
portfolio. This gain or loss is amortised over the period to the date of maturity of the derivative.
If a derivative no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the cumulative fair value
hedging adjustment is amortised over the period to maturity of the previously designated hedge
relationship. If the underlying hedged item is sold or repaid, the unamortised fair value
adjustment is recognised in the Income Statement.

Intangible assets

Where software costs are capitalised, they are amortised using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives which is three to five years. The amortisation periods used are
reviewed annually. Costs associated with maintaining software are expensed as they are
incurred. Amortisation is charged to administration expenses in the Income Statement,

Intangible assets have finite lives and are assessed for indicators of impairment at each Balance
Sheet date.

An intangible asset is impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of cne or more
events that occurred after initial recognition, the estimated recoverable value of the asset has
been reduced. The recoverable amount of the intangible assets is deemed to be its value in use,
If there is objective evidence of impairment, an impairment loss is recognised in the Income
Statement,
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1 Accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the anticipated useful lives as follows:

- Fixtures, fittings and equipment 3-10 years
- Right-of-use asset Remaining term of the lease — 11 years,
Leases

(i) Right-of-use assefs

The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and is adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The cost of the right-of-use
asset includes the amount of the lease liability recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received.

(ii) Lease liabilities

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the
lease term. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date, unless the interest rate implicit in the lease is
readily determinable. After the commencement date, lease liabilities are classified as financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Investment properties — reversionary interests in properties

Reversionary interests in properties are included in the financial statements initially at cost and
subsequently at fair value, with any change therein recognised in the Income Statement within
other fair value gains and losses on investments.

The current market value of the underlying property is taken as the last formal valuation of the
property on a vacant possession basis, modified by the change in the quarterly regional
Nationwide House Price Index, adjusted down by an annual underperformance assurnplion.

A further deduction is made from the value to reflect the expected sale expenses and a delay
factor between death and sale of the property.

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of, or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is
expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on derecognition are recognised in the Income
Statement in the year of disposal within investment income.

Inventories

Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventcries comprise land
held for development that has planning permission and is being developed for onward sale. Cost
comprises land, direct materials and direct labour costs that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred tc completion and disposal.
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Long term business provision - liabilities under insurance contracts

The long-term business provisicn has been determined by the Board, on advice from the Chief
Actuary. The estimation process used in determining the long-term business provision involves
projecting annuity payments and the costs of maintaining the contracts.

Reinsurance asset

The Group transfers certain risks arising on its underlying insurance coentracts through entering
into contracts with reinsurers. Such contracts are classified as reinsurance contracts within the
scope of IFRS 4 where significant insurance risk is transferred from the Group to the reinsurer.
Reinsurance assets are the net contractua! rights arising from cashflows due from and to
reinsurers regarding ceded insurance liabilities.

The present value of the cash flows under the reinsurance contract comprises the expected cash
flows receivable from the counterparty (i.e. the “floating” leg), net of the expected cash flows
payable by the Group (i.e. the “fixed” leg) and reinsurance fees, all discounted at a rate
consistent with that used for the gross insurance liabilities.

Gains on purchasing reinsurance are deferred and recognised as income within *Reinsurance
recoveries’ in the Income Statement by amortising the initial day 1 gain over the lifetime of the
reinsurance asset and through the revaluation of the cash flows from the present value element
based on experience and economic assumptions.

The movement in the expected cash flows receivable are disclosed within ‘Reinsurance
recoveries’ and the movement in the expected cash flows payable and the reinsurance fees paid
are disclosed within ‘Reinsurance expense’ in the Income Statement,

Reinsurance assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date or more frequently when
an indication of impairment arises during the reporting year. Impairment occcurs when there is
objective evidence as a result of an event that occurred after initial recognition of the reinsurance
asset that the Group may not receive all outstanding amounts due under the terms of the
contract and the event has a measurable impact on the amounts that the Group will receive from
the reinsurer. The impairment charge is recorded within ‘Reinsurance recoveries’ as an expense
in the Income Statement.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)

Government Grants

A grant that becomes receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the entity with no future related costs shall
be recognised in income in the period in which it becomes receivable. Under IAS 20 the income
is netted off against the related expenses.

Taxation including deferred tax

Corporation tax on profits for the year comprises current and deferred taxation. Where group
relief is received or surrendered from or to a group company, the corresponding liability or asset
is settled in full.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively
enacted by the Balance Sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets are
recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, carried forward tax credits or tax losses can
be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured on a non-discounted basis at the tax rates that
are expected to apply when the related asset is realised, or liability settled based on the tax
rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the Balance Sheet date.

Corporation tax is recognhised in the Income Statement,

Employee benefits

i) Pensions

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme for members of staff. The Company’s
subsidiary undertakings Julian Hodge Bank Limited and the Hodge Life Assurance Company
Limited are participating employers in The Carlyle {1972) Pension and Life Assurance Scheme, a
defined benefits scheme operated by The Carlyle Trust Limited. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group.

The Group’s net obligation under the defined benefit pension scheme is assessed annually by an
independent qualified actuary. The net obligation is calculated as the difference between the fair
value of the scheme’s assets and the amount of future entitlements earned by scheme members
from service in the current and prior periods, discounted back to present values using a rate
based on an index of long-dated AA rated corporate bonds using the projected unit method. This
calculation allows the net obligation of the scheme to be expressed as either a surplus or deficit,
which is recognised as either an asset or liability respectively in the Group’s accounts at the
Balance Sheet date.

i) Reimbursement liability on pension deficit

The Company has recognised a reimbursement liability in respect of its pension scheme deficit
which relates to retired employees that were contracted to The Carlyle Trust Limited {note 33).
The movement in the reimbursement liability each year is recognised in the Income Statement.
The calculation of the reimbursement liability is based on the split of scheme members by
emplovyer.
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2 Judgement in applying accounting policies and critical accounting
estimates

The Group has to make judgements in applying its accounting policies which affect the amounts
recognised in the accounts. In addition, estimates and assumptions are made that could affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the following financial year. The most
significant areas where judgement and estimates are made are as follows:

Judgements
Fair values of financial instruments

The Group uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the falr value of common
and simple financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps that use only observable market
data: further analysis can be found in notes 29 and 36.

The avallability of observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need for management
judgement and estimation and alsc reduces the uncertainty associated with determining fair
values. The availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products
and markets and is prone to changes based on specific events and general conditicns in the
financial markets.

Where observable market data is unavailable, unobservable inputs are used in the actuarial
valuation models to value equity release and retirement mortgages. The key assumptions used,
and the related sensitivities are outlined in note 36.

Reinsurance deferred reserve

Judgement is applied in amortising the day 1 gain recognised as a result of the reinsurance
trade. The Group’s policy is to amortise the deferred gain to the Income Statement over the
lifetime of the reinsurance contract.

Estimates and assumptions
Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers

IFRS 9 has a single impairment model that applies to all financial instruments in its scope. Under
this model, an entity must recognise either a 12-month or lifetime expected credit loss. ECLs are
the present value of all cash shortfalls over the expected life of the financial instrument. The key
assumptions used, and the related sensitives, are cutlined in note 18.

Value of reversionary investment properties

There is significant judgement applied in setting the assumptions used in calculating the fair
value of reversionary interests in property. Further infermation on the following assumptions is
provided in note 21.

* Property prices

+ Mortality or entry into long term care

+ Expense assumption

« Discount rate.

Pension scheme assumptions

Estimation uncertainty surrounds the measurement of the pension scheme liabilities. The
assumptions used as part of the valuation include the rate of salary increase, the discount rate
applied to scheme liabilities and inflation. The assumptions used are disclesed in note 33.

Value of lifetime mortgages including the value of the no-negative equity guarantee
There is significant judgement applied in setting the assumptions used in calculating the fair
value of lifetime mortgages and the liability arising from the no-negative equity guarantee.
Further information on the following assumptions is provided in note 36.

Mortality or entry into long term care

Lapses

Expense assumption

Discount rate

Property prices.
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2 Judgement in applying accounting policies and critical accounting
estimates (continued)

Measurement of insurance liabilities arising from annuity insurance contracts.
The estimation of the ultimate liability arising from insurance contracts is Hodge Life's most
critical accounting estimate.

For insurance contracts, the liabilities are calculated using a projection of cash flows after making
assumptions about matters such as mortality and expenses. Discount rates used to value the
liabilities are set with reference to the risk adjusted vields on the underlying assets, The most
critical non-economic assumptions are mortality rates in respect of annuity business written and
lavels of future expenses. Such assumptions are based on recent actual experience,
supplemented by industry information where appropriate.

At each reporting date, the estimates and assumptions referred to above are reassessed for
adequacy and changes will be reflected in adjustments to the liability, through the Income
Statement. Further information on these assumptions is given in note 30.

Measurement of reinsurance asset

The reinsurance asset as a result of the longevity swap held by the Company represents the
present value of the contractual cash flows less the carrying value of the deferred reserve.
Further information on the methodology and assumptions used to calculate the reinsurance
asset are disclosed within note 23.

Change in accounting estimates

There is significant judgement in the methodclogies and assumptions applied in estimating the
fair value of lifetime mortgages and reversions. The methodologies and assumptions centain
uncbservable inputs resulting in the fair value being classified as a Level 3 estimate within the
IFRS 13 fair value hierarchy. Changes have been made during the period to the methodology
used to discount the anticipated cash flows associated with the reversion and lifetime mortgage
portfolios. The change in methodology results in a valuation approach that is more consistent
with the approach used by many other financial institutions that hold these types of assets. The
impact of these changes is disclosed within note 36 and are recognised prospectively as a change
in accounting estimate,
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3 IFRS 16 Transition

Leases previously classified as finance leases
At the date of transition, 1 November 2019, the Group had no lease contracts that had previously
been classified as finance leases.

Low value recognition exemption

The Group applies the recognition exemption to leases that are considered of low value and
hence no right-of-use asset is recognised. In these cases, lease payments continue to be charged
to administrative expenses in the Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Initial Recognition of IFRS 16
At the date of transition, 1 November 2019, the Group had two operating leases which did not
meet the leases of low value exempticn.

The effects of adopting IFRS 16 for the Group and the Company were as follows:

« Right-of-use assets of £4.9 million for the Group and Company was recognised and presented
in @ new right-of-use leasehold property category within Property, plant and equipment in the
Balance Sheet of the Group and Company.

+ Lease liabilities of £4.9 million for the Group and Company were recegnised and are presented
in a new line item in the Balance Sheet.

« In both the Group and the Company, an operating lease liability of £0.8 million reflecting an
accrual for an initial rent-free period has been released to retained earnings at the date of
transition,

The following table sets out the impact of adopting IFRS 16 on the statement of financial position
carrylng amounts and retained earnings of the Group and Company as at 1 November 2019,
Only balances impacted by the transition to IFRS 16 are included in the table; all other balances
are unchanged.

Assets

Property, plant and equipment 1.9 4.9 6.8
Lease liability - (4.9) (4.9)
Liabilities

Other liabilities 5.1 (0.8) 4.3
Equity

Retained earnings 354.9 | 0.8 | 355.7

Assets

Property, plant and equipment - 4.9 4.9
Lease liability - (4.9) (4.9)
Liabilities

Other liabilities 6.8 (0.8) 6.0
Equity

Retained earnings 87.9] 0.8 | 88.7
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4 Segmental information

The Board is the Group's chief operating decision-maker’s (CODM). Management has determined the
operating segments based on information reviewed by the Board for the purposes of allocating
resources and assessing performance.

The Group operates within the banking and annuity life assurance services sector wholly within the
United Kingdom.

i1l-month poriod ended Conselidation Toral

30 Seprombey 2020

Property

Inves

ient

Interest receivable and 6.3

e 38.4 - 21.4 60.1
similar income
Interest payable and similar _
charges (22.8) (0.5) 0.1 (23.2)
Fees and commissions
receivable 1.8 - h (1.1) 0.7
Fees and commissions _ _ }
payable . (0.5) (0.5)
Dividend income receivable - - 0.6 {0.6) -
Earned premiums - 22.8 - - 22.8
Impact of new insurance _ _ _
contracts (23.4) (23.4)
Investment income 3.5 7.9 0.1 {(2.9) 8.6
s;ic;jss claims and benefits _ (25.4) R - (25.4)
Impact of gross claims and _ . -
benefits paid 25.4 25.4
Other operating income - - a.6 - 0.9
Profit on sale of inventory - - - - -
Administrative expenses (22.3) (6.5) - 1.6 {27.2)
Depreciation and (1.8) _ (0.4) _ 2.2)

amortisation
Impairment on inventory - - 0.6 (0.6) -

Impairment on subsidiary
investments

Impairment losses on loans
and advances to customers

- - (1.0) 1.0 -

The £18.4m {2019: £16.9m) profit presented in the ‘Consclidation Adjustments & Reclassification’
column mainly relates to interest receivable on equity release mortgages which is reclassified from
other fair value gains which is presented below operating profit in Hodge Life.

Total assets by business segments

Hodge Bank 1,409.2
Hodge Life 697.8
Property Investment 36.3
Consclidation adjustments and reclassification (16.8)
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4 Segmental information (continued)

As at year ended Hodge Hodge Life Praoperty
31 Dctober 2010 Bank Investment Ao
Recla

Interest receivable and

similar income 48.3 - - 21.7 70.0
Interest payable and similar _ _

charges (28.1} (0.3) {(28.4)
Fees and commissions

receivable 0.7 - B (0.1) 0.6
Fees and commissions

payable {(0.1) - - (0.8) (0.9)
Dividend income receivable - - 1.1 (1.0) 0.1
Earned premiums - 41.6 - - 41.6
Impact of new insurance - _ -

contracts (42.4) (42.4)
Investment income 7.2 12.3 0.2 (2.5) 17.2
Gross claims and benefits

paid - (26.9) - - (26.9)
Impact of gross claims and N _ .

benefits paid 26.9 26.9
Other operating income - - - 1.3 1.3
Profit on sale of inventory - - 6.1 - 6.1
Administrative expenses (16.4) (7.4) - (0.5) (24.3)
Depreciation and _ _

amortisation (1.2) (0.1) (1.3)
Impairment on subsidiary _ - -
investments 0.8 (0.8)

Impairment losses on loans (3.9) _ (0.3) _ (4.2)

and advances to customers

5 Interest receivable and similar income

Leans and advances to customers 56.4 62.6
Loans and advances to credit institutions 1.0 2.3
On other loans - 0.1
Interest and other income on government bonds and

debt securities 2.7 5.0
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6 Interest payable and similar charges

On customer accounts 14.6 16.1

On defined benefit pension scheme 0.3 0.4

On term funding scheme 0.2 0.5

On derivative financial instruments 7.9 11.4

Lease interest expense c.2 -
7 Earned premiums

Earned premiums, all of which relate to direct insurance contracts, are individual, single
premiums from annuity business.

All premiums are derived from contracts concluded in the United Kingdom, Commissions payable
in respect of direct insurance amounted to £0.4m (2019; £0.7m).

Yeaoar onded
50 Septe : 31 Octoher

Earned premiums 22.8 41.6

8 Profit on sale of inventory

1i-months ended d
30 Septembey k “tober
£m

Profit on szle of inventory . 6.1

| ..

During the year, development costs of £0.1m (2019: £0.3m) were recharged to St Aubins
Development Company Ltd at cost. This company is a related party as a director of the Company
has significant influence over both St Aubins and the Group.
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9 Administrative expenses

Staff costs

Wages and salaries

Social security

Pension costs (note 33) .
Other administrative expenses 11.5 11.1

During the year the company participated in the UK government furlough scheme from which a
grant of £0.3m was received.

Directors and employees
The average number of employees of the Group during the period was as follows:

Provision of finance and banking 277 169

Provision of life assurance services 11 41

Fees 0.4 0.3
Aggregate emoluments as executives 0.7 0.4

Aggregate emoluments 0.3 0.2

The pension accrued for the highest paid director was £61,362 {(2019: £nil), Retirement benefits
accrued for two directors in 2020 {(2019: nil) in the defined benefit scheme.
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10 Other fair value gains

11 monthfs endad Yem ended

_

Losses on derivatives designated as fair value {note 29) (4 5) (28 4)
Movement in fair value of equity release and retirement 6.2 54.4
mortgages . .
Reversal of unrealised gains on disposal of investment (8.1) (14.9)
properties ) '
Movement in fair value of investment properties (note 21) 11.0 12.0
Movement in fair value of debt securities and government 2.2 1.3
bonds {notes 14 & 15) ’ )
Movement in fair value of equity investments (note 22) (0.3) 0.1
Movement in fair value of hedged items attributable to (4.2)

hedged risk ’ 0.3

11 Loss on ordinary activities before taxation

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation is
stated after charging:

Remuneration of the auditor and its associates

Audit of these financial statements 25 21
Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries 320 224
Audit of pension scheme 11 11
Other assurance fees 29 -
Non audit fees - 85
Impairment provision expense (note 18) 5,714 4,150
Amortisation (note 19) 1,308 801
Depreciation (note 20) 855 491
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12 Tax on loss/(profit)

For the period ended 30 September 2020

Analysis of charge in year

UK corporation tax

Current tax on income for the year -
Prior period adjustment {0.7)
Total current tax

Deferred tax (note 24)

Original reversal/timing difference

Current year (1.9)
Prior period adjustment 0.1
Effect of tax rate change on opening balance {0.5)

Total deferred tax

Tax an profit on ordinary activitics

2.1
(0.9)
(0.7) 1.2

The total tax charge for the year is higher (2019: lower) than the blended rate of corperation

tax in the UK. The differences are explained below,

Total tax reconciliation

{Loss)/ Profit on ordinary activities before tax (13.4)
Current tax at 19.00% (2019: 19.00%) (2.5)
Index linked gilt RPI mevement -
Adjustments in respect of previous years (0.6)
Other 0.1

Total tax charge {see above)

12.4

2.4
(0.2)
(0.5)
(0.1)

In the current period the substantively enacted tax rate applicable from 1 April 2020 was
increased from 17% to 19%. The closing deferred tax assets and liabilities have been calculated
at 19% and accordingly a rate change adjustment has arisen as the opening deferred tax had
been calculated taking into account the previously enacted rate of 17%,
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13 Cash and balances held at central banks

Repayable on demand:

Deposits with central banks 147.9 321.9

14 Government bonds

Government bonds — at amortised cost

Government bonds ~ fair value through profit and loss 20.3

Fair value adjustment — hedge accounting

The movement in government bonds is summarised as follows:

2020 2019

£m £m
At start of period 55.5 99.4
Additions 124.5 92.4
Disposals due to maturity (92.1) (83.0)
Disposals due to restructuring exercise (7.6) (53.4)
(Losses)/ gains from hedge accounting -~ Income Statement (3.3) 0.8
Gain/ {losses) from changes in fair value - Income Statement 0.9 (0.7)

At 30 September

Of this amount £12.0m (2019: £10.7m) has been pledged as collateral under the Term Funding
Scheme (TFS’) and £2.6m (2019: £2.6m) under repurchase agreements. Collateral pledged is
restricted.

During the year, the Group performed a one-off restructuring exercise as part of its transition
away from LIBOR which resulted in the disposal of government bonds held at amortised cost.
The carrying value at the date of disposal amounted to £7.6m, the proceeds received amounted
to £11.0m, resulting in a profit on dispasal of £3.4m. The government bonds disposed formed
part of the macro-hedge relationship, a loss of £3.3m was realised in the Income Statement
reflecting the hedge adjustment attributable to the disposed assets. The Group holds the
government bonds for liquidity purposes and intends to hold the remaining portfolio to maturity.
The disposal is viewed as a one-off restructuring exercise and therefore the business model
assessment for the remaining assets remains unchanged,
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15 Debt securities
Grourn

Debt securities — at amortised cost 50.7 56.4
Debt securities - fair value through profit and loss 74.1 77.9
Fair value adjustment - hedge accounting _ 0.6

I NI

The movement in debt securities is summarised as follows:

Group

At start of period
Additions

Disposals due to maturity

Disposals due to restructuring exercise
Losses from hedge accounting - Income Statement

Gain from changes in fair value - Income Statement

Of this amount £32.8m (2019: £37.7m) has been pledged as collateral under the TFS. Collateral
pledged is restricted.

During the year, the Group performed a one-off restructuring exercise as part of its transition
away from LIBOR which resulted in the disposal of debt securities held at amortised cost. The
carrying value at the date of disposal amounted to £5.4m, the proceeds received amounted to
£6.1m, resulting in a profit on disposal of £0.7m. The debt securities disposed formed part of
the macro-hedge relationship, a loss of £0.6m was realised in the Income Statement reflecting
the hedge adjustment attributable to the disposed assets. The Group holds the debt securities
for liquidity purposes and intends to hold the remaining portfolio to maturity. The disposal is
viewed as a one-off restructuring exercise and therefore the business model assessment for the
remaining assets remains unchanged.

—

Debt securities — fair value through profit and loss
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16 Loans and advances to credit institutions

Groun
Repayable on demand 31.0 7.9
Collateral held by swap counterparties 86.3 79.5

The collateral is pledged against the market value of derivative instruments and comprises
interest-bearing cash deposits (note 29). Collateral that has been pledged and held is not
restricted and is returned at the end of the contract. There are no provisions held in respect of
loans and advances to credit institutions (2019: £nil).

Comipany

Repayable on demand

_ 1‘5

17 Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances — classified at amortised cost

Commercial 291.2 316.2

Residential 347.0 178.8

Portfolio buy-to-let 63.1 20.9
701.3 515.9

Fair value adjustment for hedged risk 0.3 0.3

Loans and advances (equity release and retirement

rmortgages) — classified as FVTPL (note 36) 729.7 724.0

Of this amount £68.6m (2019: £57.9m) has been pledged as collateral under the TFS. Collateral
that has been pledged is restricted.

The amounts owed from parent is a loan which accrues a market rate of interest.

Loans and advances to custemers held at amortised cost
Gross balances

712.0 529.3
(9.9) (11.5)

Less: Provision for impairment

Less: Loan fee deferral

Net balance
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18 Impairment provisions on loans and advances to customers

-

2020

At start of period 2.4 0.1 9.0 11.5
Utilised in the period - - (7.3) (7.3)
Income Statement

Charge for loan impairment (0.9) 1.6 5.0 5.7

At 30 September 2020

2019

At start of period 2.0 0.3 5.0 7.3
Income Statement

Charge for lean impairment

The impact of modifications to contractual cash flows that has not resulted in derecognition is
immaterial in 2020,

The methodolegy and assumptions used to calculate the IFRS 9 ECL provision is disclosed in note
37.
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19 Intangible assets

Cost:

At start of pericd 7.4 3.9
Disposals {0.1) -
Additions 2.8 3.5

At 320 September 10.1 7.4

Amortisation:

At start of period (1.6) (0.8)
Disposals 0.1 -
Amortisation {1.3) (0.8)

At 30 Soptember {2.8} (1.6)

Net book value:

£2.5m {2019: £1.3m) of expenditure relating to intangible projects was expensed during the year
as it did not meet the development criteria of IAS 38 and has therefore been expensed as incurred.

20 Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use Fixtures, fittings )
T Total
feaschoid property and cquipment

Cost:
At start of period - 3.0 3.0

Impact of adopting IFRS 16 4.9 - 4.9
Additions

At 30 September 2020

Depreciation:

At start of period - (1.1} (1.1)

Depreciation

At 30 September 2020

Net book valye:

At 30 September 2020

At 1 November 2019 - 1.9 1.9

The right-of-use asset sits on the Balance Sheet of the Company with all other property, plant
and equipment held on the Balance Sheet of the Company’s subsidiaries.

53



The Carlyle Trust Limited Notes to the Financial Statements
Registered number 0361131 For the period ended 30 September 2020

Investment properties

Freehold Reversionary Total
Group Intemst
£m Em Cm

At start of period 9.7 170.1 179.8
Additions _ _ -
Disposals - {10.9) (10.9)

Fair value adjustments 11.7 11.0

At 30 September 2020 170.9 _

The historical cost of the reversionary interests in properties is £65.5m at 30 September 2020
(2019: £72,0m),

The amounts recognised in the Income Statement in respect of rental income from freehold

investment properties were as follows:
2020 201¢
roup £

Rental income from investment properties 0.7

Reversionary interests are categorised as Level 3 assets in the fair value hierarchy. There were
no transfers into or out of Level 3 in the year.

Reversionary interests - principal assumptions

All gains and losses arising from reversionary interests are largely dependent on the longevity
of the tenant. The principal assumptions underlying the calculation of reversionary interests
include the following:

Mortality or entry into long term care

This is based on the expected death or entry into long term care of the tenant or the last
remaining tenant in relation to a joint contract. Mortality assumptions have been derived by
reference to the PCMADQ/PCFAQO mortality tables and include an allowance for future mortality
improvements.

Expenses

Assumptions for future policy expense levels are based on the Group’s recent expense analyses.
Expenses are modelled as an amount per policy per annum that incorporates an annual inflation
rate allowance of 4.09% (2019: 4.01%).

Discount rate

The discount rate applied to the reversion cash flows comprises two parts: a risk-free yield
curve and an allowance for illiquidity. The risk-free vield curve is the GBP curve published
by EIOPA. The average discount rate for the portfolio (assumed to be the 10-year point on
the yield curve based on the average duration of our business) at 30 September 2020 was
2.27% (31 October 2019: 1.78%).

Property prices

The value of a property is based on the value at the last survey increased to the current valuation
date using the Nationwide Regional House Price Index, this is then adjusted down by an annual
underperformance assumption. Ng future property price inflation is assumed beyond the
valuation date.
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21 Investment properties (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Changes to unobservable inputs used in the valuation technique could give rise to significant
changes in the fair value of the assets. The Group has estimated the net decrease in profit before
tax for the period arising from changes to these inputs as follows:

i Y i h RN
(1.9 (0.3

At 31 October 2019 (1.2)

i
L1

{ : )
(1.4) (0.2) (15.6) {(9.2)

The sensitivity factors are applied via actuarial models. The analysis has been prepared for a
change in each variable with other assumptions remaining constant. In reality, such an
occurrence is unlikely due to correlation between the assumptions and other factors. It should
also be noted that these sensitivities are non-linear and larger or smaller impacts cannot be
interpolated or extrapolated from these results.

22 Investments

2020 2019
Group and the Company —
£m £m

Equity investments 6.4 6.8
At 30 September

Group and the Campany

At start of period 6.8 6.6
Additions 0.6 0.5
Disposals (0.7) (0.4}
Fair Value Adjustments {0.3)
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23 Reinsurance asset

In March 2020 the Group entered into a reinsurance agreement in relation to the annuity
portfolio disclosed within ‘Liabilities arising from insurance contracts’ in note 30. This was part
of the strategy to de-risk the Solvency II Balance Sheet position by reducing the longevity risk
exposure and capital requirement. Management has assessed that significant insurance risk had
been transferred to the reinsurer.

The reinsurance asset held as a result of this longevity swap represents the present value of the
future contractual cash flows less the carrying value of the deferred reserve.

The present value of the cash flows under the reinsurance trade comprises the expected cash
flows receivable from the counterparty (i.e. the “floating” leg), net of the expected cash flows
payable by the Group (i.e. the “fixed” leg) and reinsurance fees, all discounted at a rate
consistent with that used for the gross insurance liabilities.

The floating cash flows are projected using future mortality assumptions consistent with those
used for the gross insurance liabilities. The fixed cash flows form part of the contractual
agreement with the counterparty to the reinsurance trade.

The deferred gain is calculated at inception of the reinsurance trade, it is subsequently amortised
to the Income Statement over the lifetime of the reinsurance asset and through the revaluation
of the cash flows from the present value element based on experience and economic
assumptions.

The deferred gain calculated at inception remains fixed and is not recalculated in future reporting
periods.

The reinsurance asset is adjusted to reflect the possibility of default by the counterparty over
the lifetime of the treaty.

A breakdown of the reinsurance asset is provided below:

Fm

Reinsurance receivable 417.0 -
Deferred reserve (22.8) -
Reinsurance payable {393.3) -

I S T N

Following the completion of the reinsurance agreement, the present value of the reinsurance
cashflows at 31 March 2020 amounted to £23.5m. The related deferred reserve is amortised
over the life of the reinsurance asset and the carrying value of this deferred reserve at 30
September amounted to £22.8 million.

A collateral agreement is in place to mitigate any exposure to the counterparty in the event that
the value of the reinsurance contract changes depending on observed experience and changes
to assumed future longevity. The collateral requirements will be recalculated quarterly, with the
first calculation taking place at 31 March 2022.
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24 Deferred tax

Group

At start of period 3.7 3.5
Charge to the Income Statement 2.3 (0.4)
Credit to the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income 0.8 0.6

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

Graoup

Accelerated capital allowances (0.3) (0.2}
Other timing differences 0.9 1.2
Defined benefit pension scheme 4.0 2.7
Tax lLosses 2.2 -

Company
At 1 November 0.6 0.4

{Charge)/Credit to the Income Statement (0.1) 0.2
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25 Other assets

Groun

Due within one year

Prepayments and accrued income 3.3 2.7
Corporation tax debtor 1.2 0.3
Other assets 1.7 1.4

Due greater than one year

Deferred consideration 57 5.7

The Group entered into an agreement with a third-party in the year ended 31 October 2019 to
dispose of land for a minimum consideration of £7.0m. This contract contains a significant
financing arrangement where the deferred consideration is to be received over the 30-month
period remaining to 30 April 2024. The initial revenue was calculated by discounting the minimum
consideration using the prevailing interest rate in the market at the time of entering the
agreement. The finance income component will be unwound over the remaining 30 months and
recognised separately from the contract revenue in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as
interest receivable and similar income.

2020
Company

Amounts due from group undertakings

Group relief - 0.1
Other debtors 0.8 0.2

26 Inventory

At start of period
Additions - 0.9

Disposals (0.1) (1.5)

7.7

27 Deposits from banks

Repurchase agreement

2.5 2.
85.0

~J
o
o |

Term funding scheme

_
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2020 24619
£m £m

Deposits from customers 1,066.7 1,036.3

28 Deposits from customers

Amounts owed to a shareholder of the Company 1.8 2.5

Fair value adjustment for hedged risk

The amounts owed to a shareholder of the Company are deposit accounts which accrue a market
rate of interest,

0.4 0.7

29 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Interest rate swaps are used by the Group for hedging purposes. These are commitments to
exchange one set of cash flows for another. No exchange of principal takes place.

Contr

Derivative liabilities held for hedging purposes and designated fair value hedges:
Interest rate swaps 270.8 316.7 82.7 79.6

RPI index linked interest rate swaps - 55.0 - (1.8)
152.7 293.7 0.1 3.5

2

Derivatives held in fair value hedges
Total recognised derivative liabilities 6654

The following table describes the types of derivatives used, the related risks and the activities
against which the derivative financial instruments are used to hedge.

Interest rate swap Sensitivity to changes in interest  Fixed rate savings products,
rates Fixed rate residential mortgages,
Fixed rate debt securities,
Fixed rate government bonds and
Fixed rate commercial loans.

At 30 September 2020, the fixed interest rates vary from 0.2% te 5.4% {2019: 0.4% to 5.4%)
and the main floating rates are LIBOR. Gains and losses recognised on interest rate swap
contracts are credited/{charged) to the Income Statement.
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29 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

_

Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps (4.5) (28.0)

Breakage costs - (0.4)

The Group agreed to exit a number of interest rate swaps during the year which were held at
fair value of £0.7m (2019: £52.6m), £nil (2019; £nil) profit or loss was incurred on disposal.

In addition, the Group agreed to exit a number of interest rate swaps held within the macro
hedge accounting portfolio as part of its transition away from LIBOR. The fair value of these
swaps at the date of disposal was £(3.9)m, £nil profit or loss was incurred on disposal.

The amcunts relating to items designated as hedged items were as follows:

Book Valuc

Eor .
Government bonds 48.6 - 21.9 3.2
Debt securities 50.7 - 56.4 0.6
Loans advances to customers 701.3 0.4 514.9 0.4
Deposits from customers (1,066.7) (0.4) {1,036.1) {0.8)

| - ’'

At 30 September 2020, there was a hedge ineffectiveness of £nil (2019: £nil).

Offsetting

In accordance with IAS32 Financial Instruments; the Group reports derivative financial
instruments on a net basis as there is a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultanecusly. A table is provided below which demonstrates the amounts which have
been offset in the Balance Sheet:

Amounts subject to netting arro

2020

Derivative financial assets 1.1 (1.1) -
Impact on total assets 1.1 (1.1) -
Derivative financial (liabilities) (83.9) 1.1 (82.8)
Impact on total {liabilities) (83.9) 1.1 (82.8)
2019

Derivative financial assets 2.5 (2.5) -
Impact on total assets 2.5 (2.5) -
Derivative financial (liabilities) (83.8) 2.5 {(81.3)
Impact on total {liabilities) (83.8) 2.5 (81.3)

The collateral pledged against the market value of derivative instruments comprises interest-
bearing cash deposits, which are included in loans and advances to credit institutions {(note 16).
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30 Provisions for long term business - liabilities arising from
insurance contracts

At 1 November 498.7 437.0
Gross claims and benefits paid (25.4) (26.9)
Impact of new insurance contracts 23.4 42.4

Fair value movement on existing liabilities

Expense cash flows and discount unwind 7.4 9.4
Mortality experience (1.1) (1.2)
Interest rate loss 25.6 46.9
Movement in illiquidity premium 2.0 6.4
Change in expense inflation 0.6 (1.3)
Impact of methodology and assumption changes

Expense policy assumption change (0.6) (7.6)
LT™M accounting basis assumpticn change (2.6) -
CMI mortality assumption change - (6.4)

The long-term business provision for insurance contracts has been calculated using estimation
technigues for each contract, by use of a prospective calculation on the basis set out below.

a) Rates of interest

Principal assumptions:

The interest rates used to discount liabilities comprise three parts: a risk-free yield curve, an
allowance for illiquidity based on the yield on the assets backing the liabilities less an appropriate
deduction for risk. The risk-free yield curve is the GBP curve published by EIOPA,

The average discount rate for each product (assumed to be the 15-year point on the yield curve
based on the average duration of the portfolio) at 3¢ September 2020 and October 2019 is as
follows:

Rates of interest

Pension business annuities 1.8 2.2
Reversionary scheme and renewable reversionary scheme 1.9 1.6
Purchased life annuities 1.9 1.6
Mortgage scheme annuities 0.8 1.0

b) Mortality tables

The mortality table used to calculate the technical provisions for annuity liabilities is the
PCMA/PCFAQD table. This table is adjusted from 2000 by calendar year for mortality
improvements based on the CMI 2018 mortality projection model. The mortality tables are
further adjusted to reflect recent mortality experience by multiplying the mortality rates by a
percentage factor which varies by the duration in force of the contract.
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30 Provisions for long term business - liabilities arising from
insurance contracts (continued)

¢) Provision for expenses

An explicit provision for expenses based on an amount per policy per annum has been determined
from recent experience analysis. This provision increases with an annual inflation rate of 4.09%
(2019: 4.01%). As at 30 September 2020, a £0.4m provision for expense overruns is held in
addition to the basic provision for per-policy expenses.

d) Sensitivity analysis

Changes to inputs used in the valuation could give rise to significant changes in the value of the
provisions. The Group has estimated the net increase/(decrease) in profit before tax for the
period to changes to these inputs as follows:

Dolay i

At 31 October 2019 (14.4) {(2.9) 54.3

The interest rate sensitivity of insurance contracts should be considered in conjunction with the
offsetting interest rate sensitivity of financial instruments.

31 Leases

On adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 November 2019, the Group had two leases over the exemption
threshold for leases of low value which relates to the Group’s head office. In the previous financial
year, under the requirements of IAS 17, these leases were classified as operating leases and as
such were held off-Balance Sheet. The Group does not sublease any leased assets.

A right-of-use asset is recognised to represent the Group’s right to use the underlying asset and
a lease liability is recognised to represent the obligation to make lease payments.

The carrying amount of the right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are set out
in note 20.

The carrying amount of the lease liability and the movement during the year are set out in the
table below:

Group & Company

At start of period -
Impact of adoption of IFRS 16 4.9

As at 1 November {adjusted)
Interest Expense 0.2

Payments (0.6)

At 30 September 2020
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31 Leases (continued)

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is presented note 36 (e).

The Group has certain leases of office equipment with low value. For these leases, the Group
applies the recegnition exemptions for leases of low value assets, whereby no right-of-use asset
is recognised and lease payments are charged to administrative expenses in the Income
Statement. The total expense recoghised is summarised in the table below.

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets c.4
Interest expense on lease liabilities - 0.2 0.2

Rental expense on low vaiue assets -

In the 11-month period ended 3¢ September 2020, cash outflows for leases included in the
statement of cash flows were £0.6 million. This comprised £0.2 million for payment of the interest
portion of the lease liability and £0.4 million for payment of the principal portion of the lease
liabitity.

As 30 September 2020, the Group is not committed to any new lease contracts that have not
yet commenced,

32 Other liabilities

Group
£m £m

Pue within one year:
Amounts owed in relation to mortgages administered for

third parties 2.3 0.9
Other creditors 0.2 0.7
Other taxation and social security 0.3 0.2
Amounts owed in relation to insurance contracts 0.5 0.5
Accruals 1.6 2.8

2020 2019
£m Erm

Due within one year:
Amounts due tc group undertakings 6.4 6.2

Accruals
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33 Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme for certain directors and employees, The
Carlyle (1972) Pension and Life Assurance Scheme.

The assets of the scheme are administered by the Trustees and are held in a fund that is separate
and independent of other group funds. The scheme was established with effect from 1972, is
fully approved under Chapter I Part XIV of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988.

The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004. This, together
with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator, and Guidance Notes adopted by the Financial
Reporting Council, sets out the framework for funding defined benefit occupational pension
schemes in the UK.

The scheme typically exposes the Group to actuarial risks such as investment risk, interest rate
risk, mortality risk and longevity risk. A decrease in corporate bond yields, a rise in inflation or
an increase in life expectancy would result in an increase to scheme liabilities. This would
detrimentally impact the Balance Sheet and may give rise to increased charges in future periods.
The Group has not changed its processes used to manage its risks from previcus pericds.

The weighted average duration of the defined pension obligation is 24 years {2019: 23 years).

Pension costs are assessed in accordance with the advice of a qualified, independent actuary
using the projected unit method. The assumptions which have the most significant effect on the
calculation are the long-term average investment return expected in future and the rate of future
increases to benefits, both before and after retirement.

The benefit basis changed to a career average revalued earnings (‘CARE’) basis, from a final
salary basis, with effect from 1 April 2005.

The calculations are based upon an assessment of the scheme’s liabilities as at 30 September
2020. These have been based upon the results of the 1 April 2019 formal triennial valuation
projected forward with allowance for benefit accrual and expected investment return. The next
triennial valuation will be carried out on 1 April 2022,

The Group’s total expense for the year amounted to £3.4m (2019: £3.0m). The Group has agreed
that it will aim to eliminate the pension scheme deficit over the next 10 years and additional
contributions of £0.9m (2019: £1.0m) were paid into the scheme in the year ended 30
September 2020. Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis and the Group has agreed to
increase the contribution rate to 23.3% from 1 April 2019.

The IAS 19 valuation as at 30 September 2020 has been produced by a qualified independent
actuary and is based on the results of the valuation as at 1 April 2019.
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33 Pension scheme (continued)

Scheme assets and liabilities

The fair value of the scheme’s assets, which are not intended to be realised in the short term
and may be subject to significant change before they are realised, and the present value of the
scheme’s liabilities, which are derived from cash flow projections over long periods and thus
inherently uncertain, were:

Fair value of plan assets 30.3 27.3

Present value of defined benefit obligations (51.3) (43.9)

Deficit

Movements in fair value of plan assets
Cashflows have been adjusted to allow for the IAS519 assumptions detailed below:

Market value of assets at the beginning of the year 27.3 24.2
Interest income 0.5 0.7
Actuarial gain (0.4) 0.6
Member contributions 0.4 0.3
Employer contributions 3.3 2.4
Benefits paid (0.8) (0.9)

Market value of assets at the end of the period 30.3 27.3

Movements in present value of defined benefit obligation

Present value of scheme Jiabilities at start of the
period 43.9 37.0

Interest cost

0.8 11
Current service cost 3.0 1.8
Member contributions 0.4 0.3
Actuarial loss on defined benefit obligation of
which:
due to experience - (1.9)
due to demographic assumptions 0.9 0.4
due to financial assumptions 3.1 5.4
Benefits paid (0.8) (0.9)

Past service cost

Present value of scheme liabilities at end of
the period




The Carlyle Trust Limited Notes to the Financial Statements
Registered number 0361131 For the period ended 30 September 2020

33 Pension scheme (continued)

Expense recognised in the Income Statement

Current service cost ~ staff costs 3.0 1.8
Net interest expense — other finance costs 0.3 0.4
Past service cost - 0.7
Other admin costs 0.1 0.1

The total amount recognised in the Statement of Other Comprehensive Incame in respect of
actuarial gains and losses is a loss of £4.4m (2019: loss of £3.3m) before tax.

Cumulative actuarial losses net of deferred tax reported in the Statement of Other
Comprehensive Income are losses of £17.0m (2019: losses of £13.9m) before tax.

Plan assets
The fair value of the plan assets and the return on those assets was as follows:

Fakr Value

Quoted equity investments 5.5 4.4
Diversified growth funds 18.5 17.8
Private investments 2.4 2.5
Bonds 1.8 1.6
Cash 2.1 1.0

Total market value of assets

The actual return on assets was £0.1m (2019: £1.3m)

Future contributions
The Group expects to contribute approximately £2.8m (2019: £3.9m) to its defined benefit
scheme in the next financial year.

Major assumptions
The major assumptions underpinning the defined benefit obligation are:

Rate of increase in salaries 2.9 4.0
Pension increases — RPI capped at 5.0% per annum 2.8 2.9
Rate of CARE revaluation 1.9 2.0
Discount rate applied to scheme liabilities 1.6 2.0
RPI inflation assumption 2.9 3.0
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33 Pension scheme (continued)

The assumptions relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the Balance Sheet date are based
on standard actuarial mortality tables and include an allowance for future improvements in longevity. The

life expectancy of scheme members is as follows:
—

Current pensioners age 65 — male 86.8 86.6

Current pensioners age 65 - female 89.1 88.9

Future pensioners age 65 (current age 45) - males 87.8 87.6

Future pensioners age 65 (current age 45) - females 90.2 90.0
Sensitivities

The Group has to make assumptions on the discount rate, inflation and life expectancy when
valuing the pension scheme liability. The sensitivity of a defined pension obligation to changes
in the weighted principal assumptions is:

Change in

Chango in deficit

Impact on present value of obligation assumption £

Discount rate 0.1% 1.0
Rate of inflation (RPI or CPI} 0.1% 0.9
Life expectancy 1 year 1.4

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the
impact on the defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions
occurring at the end of the reporting period. The sensilivity analyses are based on a changc in a
significant assumption, keeping all other assumptions constant. The sensitivity analyses may not
be representative of an actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that
changes in assumptions would occur in isolation from one another.

2017
c

19
£m £m ™ £m

History of plan Balance Sheets

Fair value of plan assets 30.3 27.3 24.2 24.2 25.7

Present value of funded defined
benefit obligations (51.3) {43.9) (37.0) (37.2) (39.2)
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33 Pension scheme (continued)

History of experience gains and losses

2020 2015 2018 2017 2016

Difference between the expected and actual return on scheme assets:

Present value of funded defined

benefit obligations £{0.4)m £0.6m £(1.4)m £0.1m £0.5m

Percentage of year end scheme 1.3% 2.2% 5.6% _ 1.5%
assets

Experience gains and losses on scheme liabilities:

Amount £{0.0) £1.9m - - £(0.4)m

Percentage of year e'n'd' present 0.0% (4.4)% _ _ 1.0%
value of scheme liabilities

Teotal amount recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income:

Losses before tax (4.4)m £(3.3)m £0.6m £0.4m £(9.1)m

Percentage of year end present

R 8.5% 7.5% 1.6% 1.1% 23.0%
value of scheme liabilities

Called up share capital

Authorised, allotted, called-up and fully paid:
1,100,000 (2019: 1,100,000) ordinary shares of £1 each 1.1 1.1

35 Financial commitments and contingent assets/liabilities

Loan commitments

Expiring in less than one year 37.4

Expiring in more than ane year 19.9

—

Capital commitments
The Group had contracted capital commitments amounting to £nil at 30 September 2020 (2019:
£nil).
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36 Financial instruments

a) Categories of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are measured on an on-geing basis either at fair value or at
amortised cost,

The accounting policies note describes how the classes of financial instruments are measured
and how income and expenses including fair value gains and losses, are recognised. The
following tables analyse the financial assets and liabilities in the Balance Sheet by the class of
financial instrument to which they are assigned and by the measurement basis and include both
non-financial assets and liabilities in order to reconcile disclosures to Balance Sheet totals,
"I WX 2

eptember 2020

Assets

Cash and balances held at central banks 147.9 - 147.9
Government bonds 48.6 29,3 77.9
Debt securities 50.7 74.1 124.8
Leans and advances to credit institutions 117.3 - 117.3
Loans and advances to customers 701.6 729.7 1,431.3
Investments - 6.4 6.4
Other assets 11.9 - 11.9
Total financial assets
Total non-financial assets 209.0

Total assets __ 2,1265

Liabilities

Deposit from banks 87.5 - 87.5
Deposit from customers 1,068.9 - 1,068.9
Derivative financial instruments - 82.8 82.8
Other liabilities 4.9 - 4.9
Total financial liabilities
Total non-financial liabilities 553.5
Share capital and other reserves 328.9
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36 Financial instruments (continued)

a) Categories of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Fair valus
through pr

AL amortised

As at 31 Ortoboey 2010 Cosk

Assets

Cash and balances held at central banks 321.9 - 321.9
Gevernment bends 25.1 30.4 55.5
Debt securities 57.0 77.9 134.9
Loans and advances to credit institutions 87.4 - 87.4
Loans and advances to customers 516.2 724.0 1,240.2
Investments - 6.8 6.8
Other assets 10.1 - 10.1

Total financial assels 1,017.7

Total non-financial assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Deposit from banks 72.5 - 72.5
Deposit from customers 1,039.5 - 1,039.5
Derivative financial instruments - 81.3 81.3
Other liabilities 5.1 -

Total financial liabiities 1,: . 81.3

Total nen-financial liabilities 515.3
Share capital and other reserves 342.1

Total equity and liabiities

b) Fair value estimation

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or,
in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date.

The table below summarises the fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities. The

different levels have been defined as follows:

« Level 1: Quoted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities,

« Level 2: Valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are based on cobservable
market data.

e Level 3: Valuation techniques for which significant inputs are not based on observable
market data.

Where applicable, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price
in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions take
place with sufficient frequency and velume to provide pricing information on an on-going basis.
For all other financial instruments, the Group determines fair value using other valuation
techniques.

70



The Carlyle Trust Limited Notes to the Financial Statements
Reglstered humber 0361131 For the period ended 30 September 2020

36 Financial instruments (continued)

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair
value on the face of the Group’s Balance Sheet and the disaggregation by fair value hierarchy
and product type:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Government bonds 29.3 - - 29.3
Debt securities 74.1 - - 74.1
Loans and advances to customers - - 729.7 729.7
Investments

6.4 - - 6.4

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or less

Derjvative financial instruments

- 82.8 - 82.8

As at 31 October 2019

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Government bonds 30.4 - - 30.4
Debt securities 77.9 - - 77.9
Loans and advances to customers - - 724.0 724.0
[nvestments

Total financial assets at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Derivative financial instruments

Totat financial liabilities at FYTPL

c) Level 1 and 2 assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Government bonds and debt securities:

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the Balance Sheet date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly cccurring market transactions
on an arm’s length basis.

Instruments included in Level 1 comprise primarily UK Government investment securities
(government bonds) and debt securities classified as FVTPL.
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36 Financial instruments (continued)

Derivative financial instruments:

Derivative products (interest rate swaps) are valued using a valuation technique with
observable market inputs, their fair value is based on counterparty valuations. Those valuations
are tested for reasonableness by discounting estimated future cash flows based on the terms
and maturity of each contract and using market interest rates for a similar instrument at the
measurement date,

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example,
over the counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little
as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.

Transfers
There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the year.

d) Level 3 assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Loans and advances to customers - equity release and retirement mortgages:
Loans and advances to customers include £729.7m {2019: £724.0m) of assets which have been
classed as FVTPL as they relate to equity release and retirement mortgages.

Faoir Va

Loans and advances (equity release and retirement

729.7 537.3 548.9

mortgages) — classified as FVTPL
29,7

724.0

Reconciliation of the opening and closing recorded amount of Level 3 equity release and

retirement mortgages:

f_m

At start of period 724.0 790.4
Disposal of equity release portfolio to a third party - (122.0)
Total gains in Income Statermnent 28.7 81.6
Loans advanced 20.0 33.2
Redemptions (43.0) (59.2)

The £28.7m increase (2019: £81.6m increase) in fair value is predominantly driven by the
fall in benchmark interest rates over the year. The 15-year point on the EIOPA vield curve
used for discounting the future mortgage cash flows has fallen by 39bps from 0.78% to 0.39%
(2019: fallen 84bps from 1.62% to 0.78%). This is partially offset by smaller relative
reductions in past and assumed future HPI.
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36 Financial instruments (continued)

Equity release and retirement mortgages - principal assumptions
Principal assumptions in the calculation of equity release and retirement mortgages include:

Mortality or entry into long term care

This is based on the expected death or entry into long term care of the customer or the last
remaining customer for a joint contract. Mortality assumptions have been derived by reference
to PCMAODO/PCFAQQO, This table is adjusted from 2000 by calendar year for mortality
improvements based on the CMI 2018 mortality projection model. The mortality tables are
further adjusted to reflect recent mortality experience by multiplying the mortality rates by a
percentage factor.

Lapses
Due to limited market information, these assumptions have been derived from the Group’s own
experience on this product.

Expenses

Assumptions for future policy expense levels are based on the Group's recent expense analyses.
Expenses are modelied as an amount per policy per annum that incorporates an annual inflation
rate allowance of 4.09% (2019: 4.01%).

Discount rate
The discount rate applied to the reversion cash flows comprises two parts: g risk-free yield curve
and an allowance for illiquidity. The risk-free yield curve is based on the GBP curve published by
EIOPA {assumed to be the 15-year point on the yield curve). As at 30 September the 15
year point was 0.39%. The average discount rate for the portfolio was 2.39% (31 October
2019: 1.78%,).

No-neqative equity guarantee

The fair value of loans secured by mortgages takes into account an explicit provision in respect
of the no-negative equity guarantee, calculated using a variant of the Black Scholes option pricing
model. The key assumptions used to derive the value of the no-negative equity guarantee include
property growth, volatility and credit risk, Property price is based on the last survey valuation
adjusted by the Nationwide Regional House Price Index with an annual underperformance
assumption. The future property price is based on Future HPI with an annual underperformance
assumption.

The property growth and volatility assumed at 30 September 2020 was 3.09% (31 October 20159:
3.08%) and 13.0% (31 October 2019: 13.0%) respectively. The value of the no-negative equity
guarantee as at 30 September 202C was £7.9m {31 October 2019: £6,.7m).

Sensitivity analysis
Changes to unobservable inputs used in the valuation technique could give rise to significant
changes in the fair value of the assets. The Greup has estimated the net decrease in profit before
tax for the period arising from changes to these inputs as follows:

Interest | Maintenance | Property | Property Lapses Increase

rates axpenses inflation prices in

mortality

+100 BP +10%¢ ~100hps T by 10%
30 September 2020 (52.4) (6.6) {6.5} (7.7) (13.3) (4.3)
31 October 2019 (76.1) (0.9} (5.5} {4.1) (16.7) (2.4
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36 Financial instruments (continued)

The sensitivity factors are applied via actuarial models. The analysis has been prepared for a
change in each variable with other assumptions remaining constant. In reality, such an
occurrence is unlikely due to correlation between the assumptions and other factors. It should
also be noted that these sensitivities are non-linear and larger or smatler impacts cannot be
interpolated or extrapclated from these results, These sensitivities are chosen as they are all
key components of the fair value calculation,

The sensitivity factors take into consideration that the Group’s assets and liabilities are actively
managed and may vary at the time that any actual market movement occurs. In addition, swaps
taken out wili mitigate some of these sensitivities to movements in rates disclosed above.

e) Maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities
The table below analyses the carrying value of financial assets and liabilities into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period to the contractual maturity date. In practice,
customer deposits will be repaid later than on the earliest date on which repayment can be
required. Likewise, in practice, customer assets may be repaid ahead of their contractual
maturity. As such, the Group uses past performance of each asset and liability class along with
management judgement to forecast likely cash flow requirements.

Assets

Cash and balances held at

central banks 147.9 - - - - 147.9
Government bonds 14.4 6.0 - - 57.5 77.9
Debt securities 1.6 4.3 1.5 61.9 55.5 124.8
Loans and advances to

credit institutions 117.3 - - - - 117.3
Loans and advances to

customers 91.9 45.3

Investments 6.4 -

Other assets 11.9 -

Total financial assets 55.4

Liabilities

Deposit from banks 2.5 - - 85.0 - 87.5
Deposit from customers 315.7 101.0 325.6 318.0 8.6 1,068.9
Derivative financial

instruments (0.3) {(0.1) 0.4 13.5 69.3 82.8
Lease Liabilities 0.1 0.1 0.2 2.0 2.1 4.5
Other liabilities 4.9 - - - - 4.9

Loan commitments
liabilities 34.9 0.5 7.4 13.5 1.¢ 57.3
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36 Financial instruments {continued)

e) Maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Assets

Cash and balances held at

central banks 321.9 - - - - 321.9
Government bonds 15.0 - 5.0 16.7 18.8 55.5
Debt securities 3.5 6.0 7.0 71.5 46.9 134.9
Loans and advances to

credit institutions 87.4 - - - - 87.4
Loans and advances to

customers 67.4 32.6 39.0 292.4 808.8 1,240.2
Investments 6.8 - - - - 6.8
Other assets 10.1 - - - - 10.1
Liabilities

Deposit from banks 2.5 - - 70.0 - 72.5
Deposit from customers 165.5 182.4 292.5 395.6 3.5 1,039.5
Derivative financial

instruments 0.2 (17) 05 11.1 71.2 81-3

5.1 - - - - 5.1
Loan commitments ) 4 9.3 s g 13
liabilities 4.8 . .3 . 3,
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f) Maturity profile of financial liabilities-contractual undiscounted cash flows

The table below analyses the Group's non-derivative financial liabilities and net-settled
derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the period to maturity
at the Balance Sheet. Derivative financial liabilities are included in the analysis if their
contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cashflows.

I

EERE Yy e
£113 £t

Financial

liabilities

Deposit from

banks 87.5 2.5 - - 85.3 - 87.8
Deposit from

customers 1,068.9 316.2 101.6 329.0 331.7 9.1  1,087.6
Derivative ‘

financial 82.8 0.1 1.9 5.1 45.1 110.5 162.7
instruments

Lease liabilities 45 0.1 0.1 0.3 2.7 2.5 5.7
Other liabilities 4.9 4.9 - - - - 4.9

Total financial
liabilities

Financial

liabilities

Depaosit from

banks 72,5 2.5 - - 71.2 - 73.7

Deposit from
customers 1,039.5 165.7 183.1 296.3 411.4 3.8 1,060.3

Derivative

financial 81.3 2.5 0.3 4.8 46.3 127.5 181.4
instruments

Other liabilities

5.1 5.1 - - - - 5.1
Total financial 1 1982 -, . . x 4 2
liabilities ,198.4 175.8B 1R83.4 301.1 528.9 131.3 1,320.5

The above disclosures do not directly align to those presented for the Balance Sheet as they
include interest relating to future periods.

The contractual undiscounted cash flows related to derivative financial instruments used for
risk management purposes are the net amounts for derivatives that are settled net.

g) Foreign currencies
The Group holds no financial assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies.
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37 Financial risk management objectives and policies

Risk management
The risk management approach encompasses the requirements for identifying, assessing,
managing, monitoring and reporting on risk.

The evaluation of the various risks and the setting of policy is carried out through the Group’'s
Executive Risk Committee which reports to the Risk and Conduct Committee, which ensures
adherence to the Group’s risk management policy and framework.

Risk management objectives

Risk is inherent in all aspects of the Group’s business. Within the Group, a risk management
framework is in place to ensure that all material risks faced by the Group have been identified
and measured, and that appropriate controls are in place to ensure that each risk is mitigated to
an acceptable degree.

In the normal course of its business, the Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, house
price risk, interest rate risk, conduct risk, operational risk, insurance risk and pension risk. These
are discussed in more detail in sections a) to h) below. In addition, whilst not a principal risk
category we also consider the risk of economic loss as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic in
point i) below.

(a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that borrowers or a counterparty will be unable or unwilling to meet a
commitment that they have entered into with the Group.

The maximum credit risk as at 30 September is the carrying value recognised on the Balance
Sheet as disciosed in the table in note 36(a), along with the loan commitments as disclosed in
the table in note 35.

Credit risk within the commercial lending partfolio is defined as a borrower's inability to repay or
service their debt obligations. The primary drivers of credit risk in the Group’s case are property
price risk and tenant risk.

The primary driver of credit risk within equity release and retirement mortgages and reversionary
interests in property is a fall in house prices, which would cause credit losses should house prices
fall sufficiently in real terms at the date of redemption.

The primary driver of credit risk within the treasury assets portfolio, which comprises deposits
with other banks, giits and debt securities is counterparty default, meaning the counterparty can
no longer repay its obligations. Only instruments issued by counterparties with a minimum rating
of BBB- at the point of purchase are held. The Group intends to hold its treasury assets to
maturity and is therefore not directly affected by market risk.

For both commercial lending and residential mortgages, the Group takes security in the form of
a legal charge over the property against which loans are advanced. The Group’s low risk approach
to new business lending is reflected in the loan to value profile of the commercial property and
residential property books.

The Group manages credit risk through its Retail Credit Committee, Commercial Credit
Committee and Assets and Liabilities Committee. Regular credit exposure reports are produced
which include information on credit and property underwriting, large exposures, asset
concentration and levels of bad debt provisioning.

Credit risk in relation to loans and advances to custamers, analysed between residential lending
credit risk, commercial Jending credit risk, portfolio buy-to-let credit risk and credit risk in relation
to treasury financial instruments is described in the relevant sections below.
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37 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Expected Credit Loss Provisioning
Expected credit losses are the discounted product of the Probability of Default (PD}, Exposure at
Default {(EAD), and Loss Given Default (LGD), defined as follows:

- PD is the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation either in the next 12
months or over the remaining lifetime of the obligation.

The calculation of PD is specific to each portfolio as set out below:

tole fon 1 i i3

Poitfolin Morhiode H SES RN TS EERAT:
Calculated at an individual account level using the customer’'s credit

Residential score. The PD is derived from UK mertgage account performance data

mortgages and overlaid with economic forecast assumptions to obtain a forward-
logking PD.

Commercial loans Calculated by making an assessment at an individual account level using

and Portfolio Buy-to- | a scorecard approach to determine the credit rating of the individual

Let exposure which is linked to historical default rates of comparable

entities. A credit cycle overlay model of a credit rating agency is used
to calculate the forward-locking PD. The economic assumptions used
within this model are obtained from multiple external sources.

Debt securities and Calculated at an individual security level using the external credit
government bonds agency’s rating of the security which is linked to the historical default
rates of comparable securities.

Key Economic Scenario Assumptions
The key economic assumptions used in the model to determine the forward-looking PD are as

follows:

UK GDP Growth

Upside 9.1 3.8 2.1 2.0 2.0
Baseline 8.7 3.5 1.6 1.6 1.6
Downside 8.1 3.0 1.4 1.4 1.5
Scenario weighted forecasts 8.5 3.3 1.6 1.6 1.6
UK Unemployment Rate

Upside 7.4 5.3 4.3 3.7 3.4
Baseline 8.2 6.1 5.0 4.5 4.2
Downside 8.7 6.7 5.7 5.2 5.0
Scenario weighted forecasts 8.2 6.2 52 4.6 4.4
% Change in S&P 500 Index?® 13.0

% Change in Energy Index 19.0 54 5.5 5.3 5.6
% Change in Non-Energy Index 2.5 2.1 2.2 2.1 2.3
% Change in Proportion of Downgrades! 136.6

1 - These are the historical annual changes rather and therefore these are only input for Y1 and
then updated annually.

The PD models produce an estimate of the point-in-time PD reflecting the current and expected
position in the current credit cycle. The models are designed to preduce ECL estimates under
three distinct scenarios, reflecting expectations of general economic conditions.
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37 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

The scenario weightings and the three distinct scenarios used to reflect the expectations of the
wider economy that feed into the PD models are:
Scenario Ao assumptions

weighting

Upside + The number of COVID-19 cases is further brought under control 20.0%
and the government continues to reopen the economy making a
stronger rebound at the end of 2020 a possibility.

Baseline ¢ A backdrop of fluctuating easing and tightening of restrictions wilf 35.0%

keep confidence subdued and fuel voluntary sociai distancing
behaviours until a vaccine is made available.

+ Government measures to minimise unemployment are relatively
successful.

« The Group rate remains at extremely low levels for the
foreseeable future, a tightening in credit conditions proves mild and
sterling stabflises.

Downside | « A second wave of infections and reintroduction of intensive 45.0%
lockdown measures push the econemy into a double dip recession.
The government is unable to provide ongoing support to businesses
and workers to the extent that they have thus far. This will result
in an increase in unemployment relative to the base case.

+ This scenario also represents the real risk that the UK will have
to accept significantly less favourable terms of access to the EU
market as a result of Brexit, which could undermine prospects for
trade and investment.

- EAD is based on the amounts the Group expects to be owed at the time of default.
There are no significant Judgements in delenmining the exposurc at default.
— LGD represents the Group’s expectation of the extent of loss on defaulted exposures.

The calculation of LGD is specific to each loan portfolio as set out below:

Portfolio Methodology for determining the LGD

Residential Calculated by using the Black Scholes model to reflect that the portfolio

mortgages is secured against the underlying property as this will calculate the
thecretical value of the total loss, should all policies default.

Commercial loans Calculated by using an external credit rating agency’s ECL model which

and Portfolio Buy-to- | provides an unbiased estimate of the LGD by blending different

Let probabilities of the economic states occurring (positive, neutral and
negative).

Debt securities and Calculated monthly on an individual security level using a credit rating

government bonds agency’s published average nominal recovery rate.

A sensitivity analysis has been performed to review the worst-case scenario and the impact on
the LGD.
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Credit risk: Residential exposures

The Group’s exposure to credit risk relating te lcans and advances to residential customers can
be broken down by security as follows:

Fully secured by a first charge on residential property

Fair value adjustments 173.2

Fully secured by a first charge on residential property

Fair value adjustments

The cumulative change in fair values due to credit risk amounts to losses of £7.9m (2019:
£7.2m), and the change in the year is a profit of £0.7m (2019: £2.0m).

Residential: risk concentrations

Loan to value {LTV)} is one of the main factors used to determine the credit quality of loans
secured on residential property along with credit scores. All residential loans and receivables
have an LTV of less than 70% when advanced.

The Group provides loans secured on residential property across England, Northern Ireland,
Scotland and Wales.

Residential: performance
The gross exposure on loans and advances to residential customers held at amortised cost and
its exposure to credit risk in line with the internal modelling of the Group for the period ending
30 September 2020 is disclosed below:;

Stage 1 Satisfactory
Stage 2 Watchlist < = 675
Stage 3 Default N/a

Less: Loan fee deferral
Provisions for impairment

A deterioration in a customer’s credit score since inception of greater than or equal to 160 points
results in a loan being moved to Stage 2. Any loan that is 90-days past due is classified as being
in default and therefore is allocated to Stage 3.
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37 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

The gross exposure on loans and advances to residential customers held at amortised cost and
its exposure to credit risk in line with the internal modelling of the Group for the period ending
31 October 2019 is disclosed below:

ot

Stage 1 Satisfactory
Stage 2 Watchlist
Stage 3 Default

Less: Loan fee deferral

Provisions for impairment

At 31 October 2019

Purchases 20.5 -
Advances 157.2 -
Stage transfers 2.0 4.2

Repayment and settlement (15.9)

Arrears
Performance risk is measured by those accounts in arrears. The total balances in arrears at 30
Septemnber 2020 amounted to £1.4m (2019: £nil).

Past due but not impaired
As at 30 September 2020 there were no residential exposures that were past due but not
impaired (2019: £nil}.

Forbearance
There have been no instances of forbearance arising during the year,

Payment holidays

As a result of COVID-19, the Group granted payment holiday arrangements to a total of 167
Residential customers. 160 of these customers have resumed fuli payment with 7 customers
remaining on payment holidays. The total value of exposures that remain on payment holiday
arrangements amounts to £2.3 million and are allocated to Stage 1.

Sensitivity
A 100% weighting for a negative scenario produces an additional ECL provision for Stage 1, 2
and 3 of £0.1m.
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Credit risk: Commercial lending

Commercial: analysis of risk concentration
Loans secured on commercial property are as follows:

Commercial mortgage
Development finance
Investment loans

Renewable energy

Less: Loan fee deferral

Provisions for impairment

At inception, commercial property loans are fully secured against the value of the related
properties.

The Group provides loans secured on property across England, Scotland and Wales. An analysis
of commercial property and renewable energy sector lcans by geographical location of the

underlying asset is provided below:
2020

Wales 62.0 20.5 73.2 22.2
London - England 116.6 38.5 123.5 37.6
South East & East of England 12.6 4.2 25.0 7.6
Midlands — England 27.3 8.0 21.2 6.4
South West of England 44.2 14.6 49.5 15.0

24.2 7.3

North West & North East of England 29.4 8.7
Scotland 10.5 3. 12.7 3.

5 9

The average loan to value (LTV) in respect of commercial lcans is estimated to be 60.3% (2019:
56.1%). LTV analysis has been undertaken by using a combination of external valuations and
internal and external desktop reviews which consider the type and quality of security, lease
term/tenant as well as gecographical location.

£10.2m (2019: £25.5m) of exposures have an LTV of greater than 100%. Of these, £10.2m
(2019: £25.2m) are already classified as in default.

The largest exposure to one counterparty is £15.2m (2019: £17.9m) or 5.1% {2019: 5.5%) of
gross balances.
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Commercial: lending performance
Procedures are in place which grade borrowers in line with the perceived severity of the risk
and are designed to identify cases of potential cause for concern toc facilitate early risk
mitigation or forbearance activity where appropriate. Using this risk grading system, the gross
balance of the commercial loan pottfolio is classified as follows:

£ L7

Stage 1 235.7 77.9 286.7 87.1
Stage 2 - significant increase in credit risk 49.5 16.4 14.3 4.3
Stage 3 - default 17.4 28.3

The movement between stages based on the gross exposure on lpans disclosed below:

At 31 Octocber 2019 .
Advances 60.8 - - 60.8
Stage transfers (33.5) 43,7 . 15.0
Repayment and settlement

Exposure by credit rating
The gross exposure on ceommercial financial assets and its exposure to credit risk in line with
internal risk grades and the corresponding external credit rating agency’s credit risk rating at
30 September 2020 is disclosed below

Stage 1 A+ 0.7 -

1 Negligible risk
2.1 Minimal risk Stage 1L or2 B+ - -
2.2 Low risk Stageior2 B 27.7 -
31 Fair risk Stagelor2 B- 46.9 0.1
3.2 Moderate risk Stage 1 or 2 BB+ 116.7 0.3
4.1 Watch Stage 1 or 2 BB 55.9 1.1
4.2 Enhanced watch Stage lor2 BB~ 28.3 1.0
5 Substandard Stage 2 BBB 9.0 0.3
6 Default Stage 3 CcCC+ 12.4 1.5
7 Loss Stage 3 CCC- 5.0 3.1
Total ; .4

The gross exposure on commercial financial assets and its exposure to credit risk in fine with
internal risk grades and the corresponding external credit rating agency’s credit risk rating at 31

October 2019 |s dlsclosed below:

Negligible risk

Stage 1

2.1 Minimal risk Stage 1 or 2

2.2 Low risk Stage 1 or 2 -

3.1 Fair risk Stage 1 or 2 0.2

3.2 Mederate risk Stage 1 or?2 BB+ 174.9 1.4

4.1 Watch Stage 1 or 2 BB 22.2 0.4

4.2 Enhanced watch Stage 1 or 2 BB- 8.1 0.1
5 Substandard Stage 2 BBB - -
6 Default Stage 3 ccc+ 24.8 6.5
7 Loss Stage 3 CCC- 3.5 2.5

T
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Arrears
As at 30 September 2020 there were £4.1m of commercial loans in arrears (2019: £16.8m).

During the period, the Group settled one default exposure which crystallised a loss of £7.8m. At
31 October 2019, this exposure had a gross balance of £15.3m and a Stage 3 provision of £4.3m.

Past due but not impaired
As at 30 September 2020 there was £nil {2019: £nil) commercial loan balances that were past

due but not impaired.

Forbearance
There have been no instances of forbearance arising during the year.

Payment holidays

As a result of COVID-19, the Group granted payment concessions to 51 Commercial customers.
50 of these custemers have resumed full payment with one customer resuming partial payment.
The single exposure which remains on a payment holiday arrangement has been allocated to
Stage 2.

Sensitivity

A 100% weighting for a Negative scenario produces an additional ECL provision for Stage 1 and
Stage 2 of £0.8m.
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37 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk: Portfolio Buy-to-Let ('PBTL'

PBTL: analysis of risk concentration
Loans secured on PBTL property are as follows:

PBTL lending 63.7 92.6 21.3 30.8

On inception PBTL property loans are fully secured against the value of the related properties.

The Group's PBTL loan portfolio comprises the following:

2019

€,

(8]

Loans secured on PBTL property 63.7 100.0 21.3 100.0

63.7 100.0 21.3 100.0
Less: Loan fee deferral (0.2) {0.1)

Provisions for impairment (0.4} (0.3)

The Group provides loans secured on property across England, Scotland and Wales. An analysis
of PBTL property loans by geographical location is provided below:

London-~England 46.1 72.2 19.7 92.5
South East & East of England 7.4 11.7 0.8 3.6
Midlands-England 4.1 6.5 0.8 3.9
South West 4,2 6.6 - -
Wales 1.9 3.0 - -

The average LTV in respect of PBTL loans is 68.6% (2019:68.5%). LTV analysis has been
undertaken by using a combination of external valuations and internal and external desktop
reviews which consider the type and quality of security, lease term/tenant as well as
geographical location. No exposures have an LTV of greater than 100%.

The largest exposure to cne counterparty is £11.4m (2019:£11.4m) or 17.9% (2019:53.5%) of
gross balances.

At 31 October 2019 21.3 . ] 21.3

Stage transfers - - - -
Advances 42.4 - - 42.4
Repayment and settlement - - - -

At 3G September 2020
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37 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

PBTL: lending performance

Procedures are in place which grade borrowers in line with the perceived severity of the risk and
are designed to identify cases of potential cause for concern to facilitate early risk mitigation or
forbearance activity where appropriate. Using this risk grading system, the gross value of the

PBTL portfolio is classified as follows:

Stage 1 63.7 100% 21.3 100.0
Stage 2 - significant increase in credit risk - -
Stage 3 ~ default

Exposure by credit rating

The gross exposure on PBTL financial assets and its exposure to credit risk in line with credit
rating agencies credit risk ratings is disclosed below:

30 September 2020

3.1 Fair risk Stage lor2 B- 3.1 (0.0)
3.2 Moderate risk Stage lor2 BB+ 60.6 (0.4)

31 October 2019

Moderate risk Stage 1 or 2 BB+

Arrears
As at 30 September 2020 there were no PBTL loans in arrears (2019: £nil),

Past due but not impaired
As at 30 September 2020 there were no PBTL loans that were past due but not impaired (2019:
£nil).

Forbearance
There have been no instances of forbearance arising during the year

Payment holidays
As a result of COVID-19 and the FCA guidance the Group granted payment concessions to four
PBTL loan customers. All four of these customers have resumed full repayment, plans.

Sensitivity

A 100% weighting for a Negative scenario produces an additional ECL provision for Stage 1
and Stage 2 of £0.1m.
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Credit risk: Treasury assets

Treasury risk comprises exposure to central banks, government bonds, debt securities, credit
institutions and financial derivatives, The following table shows the maximum exposure to credit
risk excluding collateral:

UK government and amounts held with central banks 147.9 321.9
Government bonds 77.9 55.5
Debt securities 124.8 134.9

Loans and advances to credit institutions

Provisicn for impairment - -

None of these exposures are past due cr impaired.

Credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due hor impaired
The following shows the expasures broken down by rating:

AAA to AA- 439.1 559.9
A+ to A- 15.3 27.2
88B+ to BBB- 13,5 12.6

Concentration of credit risk
The geographical exposure is as follows:

UK
Other 56.6

The Treasury function moenitors exposure concentrations against a variety of criteria including
counterparty timits.
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b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in realising assets or otherwise
raising funds to meet commitments as they fall due. The Group manages its liquidity risk through
its Assets and Liabilities Committee and monitors its liquidity position on a daily basis and has
adopted a policy tc ensure that it has adequate resources to enable it to conduct its normal
business activities without interruption. The maturity analysis of assets and liabilities is disclosed
in note 36 {e) & (f} to the financial statements,

The customer deposit base represents a stable source of funding due to the number and range
of depositors. Liquidity is further managed through dealings in the money markets.

The Board has approved a liquidity risk management policy that sets out the liquidity

requirements with which the Group must comply. The principal liquidity risk mitigants used by

management are:

* A buffer of highly liquid assets (comprising high quality government, covered bonds and
supranational bank securities) which can meet cash requirements;

e Cash reserves with the Bank of England;

» Cash resources held at other financial institutions.

The maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities is disclosed in note 36(e) to the financial
statements. For insurance contract liabilities and the reinsurance asset, maturity profiles are
determined based on estimated timing of net cash outflows from the recognised insurance
liabilities and the reinsurance asset.

As at 30 September

2020 7.3 7.2 14.3 106.7 392.5 528.0
As at 31 October
2019 7.0 7.0 13.8 102.7 368.2 498.7

Not mo
than
tire

mionths

Remmsurance assol v

thass ¢
31
£in

0.2 0.7 0.9

As at 30 September

2020 -
As at 31 October

2019 - - -

c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that arises when there is an imbalance between the maturity dates
of rate sensitive assets, liabilities and commitments. The Group manages its interest rate risk
through its Assets and Liabilities Committee. The Group’s policy is to maintain Interest rate risk
at a controlled level within limits set by the Board.
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The table in note 36(d) shows an estimate of the interest rate sensitivity gap as at 30 September
2020. The principal risk management tool to mitigate interest rate risk is the use of derivatives
to align the interest rate re-pricing profile of assets and liabilities. All of the derivatives used by
the Group are interest rate swap contracts of varying maturities and start dates.

The Group’s interest rate risk management policy defines the type of derivative transactions that
can be undertaken, which are all actioned by the Group’s treasury function, and are subject to
review and approval at the dealing stage. The Treasurer, who is responsible for treasury matters
on a day to day basis, prepares a treasury report for the Board, which includes analysis of interest
rate risk exposures.

d) Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of economic loss from systemic failure, human error and fraud {control
failures) or external events, which result in unexpected or indirect loss to the Group. When
controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or
regulatory implications or can lead to financial less. The Group cannot expect to eliminate all
operational risks but by initiating a rigorous control framework and by monitoring and responding
to potential risks, the Group is able to manage the risks. Controls include effective segregation
of duties, access controls, authorisation and reconciliation procedures, staff education and
assessment processes, including the use of internal audit,

The Group has responded to COVID-19 as it developed, initially through its business continuity
processes to ensure the safety of its colleagues and its customers before returning to a more
‘business as usual’ operation albeit operating remotely. The Group has respended to and follows
government guidance and best practice to maintain our customer service levels and protect our
empioyees.

&) House price risk

House price risk is the risk that arises when there is an adverse mismatch between actual house
prices and those implicit in the costing of the Group’s equity release and retirement mortgages
and reversionary interests, such that the ultimate realisation of the property would not yield the
expected return to the Group and could, in certain circumstances, result in a capital loss. The
Group mitigates house price risk by monitoring maximum loan to value at inception of the loan
and reversionary interests. The reversionary interests are a legacy product which is being run-
off over the medium term.

Geographical analysis of loans secured on equity release and retirement mortgages
The Group provides loans secured on property across England, Scotland, Northern Irefand and
Wales. An analysis of residential property hy geographical location is provided below:

v o
Wales 20.6 3.8 21.4 3.9
East Anglia 21.0 3.9 22.3 4.1
East Midlands 24.4 4.5 25.2 4.6
London 50.1 16.8 94.6 17.2
Yorkshire & Humberside 27.2 5.1 27.5 5.0
North West 39.0 7.3 40.8 7.4
Northern Irefand 17.8 3.3 17.5 3.2
Scotland 35.6 6.6 37.0 6.8
Outer Metropolitan 80.6 15.0 80.2 14.6
Quter South East 72.1 i3.4 72.6 i3.2
South West 63.2 11.8 4.3 11.7
West Midlands 29.9 5.6 29.9 5.5
North 15.8 2.9 15.6 2.8
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37 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

f) Conduct risk

Conduct risk is the risk that the Group’s behaviour results in poor outcomes for customers. The
Group is exposed to this risk by virtue of the markets in which it chooses to operate. The
Executive Risk Committee has overall responsibility for implementing and monitoring principles,
frameworks, policies and limits. The Committee is responsible for managing risk decisions and
monitoring risk levels which it reports to the Risk and Conduct Committee.

The Group holds a provision of £nil as at 30 September 2020 (2019: £nil).

g) Insurance risk

Life insurance risk includes the possibility of loss due to uncertainty of rates of death. The
principal risk the Group faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefits
payments exceed the amounts expected at the time of determining the insurance liabilities.

The Group principally writes annuity contracts where typically the policyholder is entitled to
payments which cease upon death. For annuity contracts, the most significant factor is continued
improvement in medical science and social conditions that would increase the length of time of
annuity payments.

The risk exposure is mitigated by a diversification across a large portfolio of insurance contracts
and geographical areas. Much of the Group’s longevity risk is mitigated by the use of reinsurance
in the form of a longevity swap arrangement.

h) Pension risk
The Group is exposed to pension risk through its defined benefit scheme. Further information is

provided in note 33.

i) Pandemic risk

Pandemic risk is the risk of economic loss from a result of a pandemic. The Executive Risk
Committee has overall responsibility for implementing and meoenitoring risks that a pandemic
could cause. The Committee is responsible for managing risk decisions and monitoring risk levels
which it reports to the Risk and Conduct Committee.

38 Ultimate parent undertaking

The ultimate parent undertaking and controller is The Carlyle Trust (Jersey) Limited
(incorporated in Jersey), a company controlled by a Hodge family trust, whose sole natural
trustee is Jonathan Hodge.
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39 Shares in Group undertakings

Company £y

At beginning of year 86.5

Impairment -

The undertakings in which the Group’s and/or Company’s interest at the year-end is more than
20% are as follows:
Subsidiary Undes Country af Principal Activity

incory

Hodge Limited United Kingdom Holding company 100% 100%
Julian Hodge Bank Limited United Kingdom Banking 100% 100%
Hodge Life Assurance Company  United Kingdom Life assurance 100% 100%
Limited

Carlyle Securities Limited United Kingdom Property investment 100% 100%
Carlyle Property Development United Kingdom Property investment 100% 100%
Company Limited

Sterling House Limited United Kingdom Property investment 100% 100%
Wingwest {Fountain Lane) United Kingdom Property investment 100% 100%
Limited

Hodge Developments (Beaufort  United Kingdom Property investment 100% 100%
Park) Limited

Hodge (Clevedon Estates) United Kingdom Property Investment 100% 100%
Limited

40 Subsidiary Audit Exemption

The Carlyle Trust Limited provides a guarantee for the subsidiaries below under s479A, which
exempts them from the requirements of the Act relating to audit of its individual accounts tor
the financial year to 30 September 2020.

Caompany Name Company Number
Hodge Developments (Beaufort Park) Limited 06343749
Wingwest (Fountain Lane) Limited 06127896
Carlyle Securities Limited 00743649
Sterling House Limited 06589142
Hodge (Clevedon Estates) Limited 11209025

41 Related parties

The Company has relationships with its parent Company, The Carlyle Trust (Jersey) Limited,
fellow subsidiaries of The Carlyle Trust Limited and the Jane Hodge Foundation. The company
paid dividends to its shareholders during the year ended 30 September 2020 of £nil (2019:
£3.3m).

The ather group related party transactions are disclosed below:

Group

Jane Hodge Foundation - shareholder of The Carlyle Trust Limited

During the year, development costs of £0.1m were recharged to St Aubins Development
Company Ltd at cost. This company is a related party as a director of the Company has significant
influence over both St Aubins and the Group.

The Group also has a related party liability of £1.8m (2019: £2.5m) with the Jane Hodge
Foundation - a shareholder of the Carlyle Trust Limited.
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41 Related parties (continued)

The following balances were owed to or from related parties at the period end:

Company

Deposits held by subsidiary

Julian Hodge Bank Limited 1.3 1.1
Amounts owed from subsidiaries

Hodge Limited 0.1 -
Carlyle Property Development Company Limited a.5 0.4
Amounts owed to subsidiaries

Julian Hodge Bank Limited (3.1) (3.3}

Reimbursement liability due to Julian Hodge Bank Limited (3.3) (2.9)

Key management personnel comprise only the directors of the Group. There were nc material
transactions between the Group and its key management perscnnel other than those disclosed
below.

Key management compensation is as follows:

1.0

Short-term employee benefits;

0.7

42 Capital risk management

Banking segment

The banking segment conducts an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (‘ICAAP’), at
least annually, which is approved by the Board. This is used to assess the Bank's capital adequacy
and to determine the level of capital required to suppert the future development of the business
as set out in the strategic plan.

The ICAAP addresses all the Bank’s material risks and includes board approved stress scenarios
which are intended, as a minimum, to meet regulatory requirements. The ICAAP is used by the
PRA to set the Bank’s Total Capital Requirement ('TCR’).

The Bank’s capital rescurces requirements are calculated based on the CRD IV and CRR
regulatory framework as implemented by the PRA, namely:

« Pillar 1-based on a Standardised Approach for credit risk, operational risk and market risk;
» Pillar 2-set by the PRA via the TCR to address those risks not covered under Pillar 1.

The Board is uitimately responsible for capital management and monitors the capital position of
the Bank at each board meeting through the receipt of management information which sets out
the Bank’s current and forecast capital position, based on the methodology adopted within its
ICAAP.

This means that the Bank will:

i) Maintain a level of capital at least equal to the minimum amcunt set by the PRA in the
TCR, and;
i) Hold all its capital in the form of Common Equity Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital.
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42 Capital risk management (continued)

Common Equity Tier 1 capital 136.4 156.4
Total risk weighted assets 693.8 695.,2
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio 19.7% 22.5%
Total own funds 136.4 156.4
Total risk weighted assets 693.8 695.2
Total capital ratio 19.7% 22.5%

Capital Requirements Directive
Article 89 of the Capital Requirements Directive IV (CRD IV) requires credit institutions and
investment firms in the EU to disclose annually, specifying, by Member State and by third country
in which it has an establishment, the following information:
s Name, nature of activities and gecgraphical location: The Bank cperates only in the United
Kingdom. The principal activities of the Bank are noted in the Strategic Report.
Average number of employees: as disclosed in note 9 to the financial statements.
Annual turnover (Net Interest Income) and profit before tax: as disclosed in the Income
Statement.
Corporation Tax paid by Julian Hodge Bank Limited: 2020 £0.3m (2019: £0.2m).
Public subsidies: The Group received a £0.3m grant from the UK government in relation to
the furlough scheme.

All minimum regulatory requirements were met during the year and the prior year.

The banking segment’s objectives when managing capital are:

= To have sufficient capital to safequard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so
that it can continue to provide returns for the shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders;

» To comply with the Bank’s capital requirements set out by the PRA in the UK.

The Bank’s capital comprises all components of equity, movements of which are set out in the
Statement of Changes in Equity.

Life assurance segment
The insurance segment is required to maintain a minimum margin of solvency capital in excess
of the value of its liabilities to comply with regulatory requirements.

The amount of regulatory and economic capital required also depends on the level of risk facing
the insurance business, and as such correlates to economic market cycles. The insurer must
assess its capital resources on both a Pillar 1 (regulatory capital) and a Pillar 2 {own risk and
solvency assessment) basis. The Pillar 1 capital requirement is calculated by applying the
Selvency II standard formula for seclvency capital requirements whereas the Pillar 2 capital
requirement is determined following an internal capital assessment by the insurer,

All minimum regulatory requirements were met during the year.

The objectives when managing capital are:

» To have sufficient capital to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern so that it can
continue to provide returns for the shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders;

e To comply with the insurance capital requirements set out by the regulators of the insurance
markets in which the insurer operates (the PRA in the UK},

+« To provide an adequate return to the shareholder by pricing insurance contracts according to
the level of risk associated with the business written.
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42 Capital risk management (continued)

The insurer’s capital comprises solely equity, movements of which are set out in the Staterment
of Changes in Equity.

Pillar 1 capital position

20240

Audh

£t
Total capital resources 162.7 148.5
Solvency capital requirement (SCR) (81.7) (90.1)
Excess available capital resources 67.5 58.4
Solvency Coverage Percentage 183% 165%

A reconciliation of the Company’s total equity to distributable reserves is summarised below:

Total equity 162.7 156.0
Less: share capital (6.8) (6.8)

Less: other non-distributable reserves

Disirsbutable roserves
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